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MISSION
To develop a vibrant football culture to enhance
national life, strengthen social harmony and evoke
the Singapore Spirit.

VISION
To excel in ASEAN and
compete at the Asian stage.

VALUES
Teamwork

Inclusiveness

Transparency

Respect

Innovation

Passion

KEY PILLARS
OF FAS
In line with a vision and attitude to
improve the footballing standard and
environment in Singapore, the FAS
identified four key pillars as the basis
of all the changes and developments
to build a stronger National Team for
the future.

Youth
Development

Capability
Development

Inclusion of
promising youth
players competing
in a Professional
League.

Customised
and centralised
mechanism to
deliver industry best
practices in coach
development & club
administration.

Cost Efficiency

Vibrant Football
Culture

Shared services
to maximise
holistic support
and to leverage on
economies of scale.

For Singaporeans to
feel connected to
and embrace local
football.

season and marked a historical chapter
that could potentially shape the future
of the professional football landscape
in Singapore. Sea has a proven track
record of building and managing
successful businesses, and the FAS has
complete confidence in their ability to
steer the club to new heights. We hope
that this will pave the way for other
clubs to strive towards privatisation, as
it would not only allow clubs to develop
better club and financial management
capabilities, but also grow the domestic
league commercially, thereby helping
to create a self-sustaining model for
local football.

PRESIDENT’S
MESSAGE
Dear members,
On behalf of the Football Association
of Singapore (FAS), I am pleased to
present to you our Annual Report
for the Financial Year of April 2019 to
March 2020.
In 2018, the current Council
had established four “pillars” –
Youth
Development,
Capability
Development,
Cost
Efficiency
(Efficient Resource Management) and
A Vibrant Football Culture – which
represent the key objectives of the
FAS and what we have been striving
to achieve in our plans and vision
for Singapore football. The various
initiatives and programmes introduced
since, have been underpinned by
these principles.
The progress of these initiatives will be
shared too, as we reflect and take stock
with an eye on the future.

REVAMPING SINGAPORE’S ONLY
PROFESSIONAL SPORTS LEAGUE
One of the biggest projects that we took
on was to further enhance the quality
of our professional football league,
where we rebranded the S.League in
2018 to the current Singapore Premier
League (SPL).
Since then, we have seen renewed
interest in the league as a result, borne
out by increased crowd attendances
especially at the start of the 2020
season. During that time, the SPL saw
impressive attendances in its opening
matches, with the match between
Tanjong Pagar United FC and Lion City
Sailors FC attracting over 2,700 fans
to catch the action live at the stadium.
Landmark broadcast deals were struck
with Singtel, StarHub and Mediacorp to
telecast all SPL matches “live” for the
2020 season, complementing existing
partnerships with online broadcasters
1Play and myCujoo that resulted in
over a million fans tuning in on the

various online streaming platforms for
the 13 fixtures that took place. Leading
life insurer AIA Singapore also came on
board the journey as title sponsor of
the SPL in 2019.
In early 2020, another milestone
event took place when an SPL club
was privatised for the first time in local
football history. Lion City Sailors FC,
previously known as Home United
FC, was unveiled by new owners Sea
Limited, Singapore’s largest consumer
internet company, and is currently
fully funded by the organisation. The
watershed initiative was a joint effort
which I oversaw together with fellow
FAS Council Member Forrest Li, who is
the founder, Chairman and Group CEO,
of Sea. Forrest’s keen determination
to have Lion City Sailors set a new
benchmark for footballing excellence
in Singapore and the region, was
instrumental in making this a reality. This
pilot project was a significant milestone
for the league as it entered its 25th

The club has also not wasted any time
in getting its youth developmental
structure in place. The Lion City Sailors
Football Academy has been awarded
One-Star Academy status by the Asian
Football Confederation (AFC). This
distinct honour comes in conjunction
with the FAS being accepted as a
full member of the AFC Elite Youth
Scheme, which is aimed at recognising
youth development efforts by Member
Associations and improving the game in
Asia at national and club level. The Lion
City Sailors Football Academy is the
first in Singapore to be accorded such
a status after meeting the standards
and requirements in 20 performance
categories as outlined in the AFC Elite
Youth Scheme.
SHAPING FOOTBALLING GOALS
THROUGH YOUTH DEVELOPMENT
As enshrined in our collective vision
that youth development is core to
future success, we integrated this tenet
into the SPL.
To further nurture youth talent in a
professional league, local clubs were
required to include a minimum of
three local Under-23 starters and at
least six U23 players to be registered.
These changes have spurred teams
to give promising young players vital
game time, while ensuring that the

league remains competitive with the
continued presence of quality senior
players and foreign signings.
Of course, youth development also
has to be facilitated at all other levels,
including the grassroots, in order to
grow the talent base for our football
teams.
A key initiative to aid this development
is the Inter-School Futsal Challenge
(ISFC), a joint project together with
Singapore Pools for U10 and U14
players. Introduced in 2018, tweaks
to the second edition’s format in
2019 allowed for more playing time
for all schools and introduced a girls’
category. This resulted in participation
from 95 teams in total, 11 more than
the previous year. With the support of
both Singapore Pools and the Ministry
of Education, the ISFC is set to become
a mainstay of our footballing calendar.
Another initiative that is currently in the
works is the collaboration between FAS
and the Ministry of Education (MOE) to
create an FAS-MOE Elite School League.
The main intention of this partnership
is to widen and complement the
base of elite players flowing through
the pipeline and to establish more
channels for elite youth competition,
maintaining a steady stream of players
in the talent pool.
Further efforts to heighten girls’ interest
in football have led to a variety of
programmes being introduced – the
FAS Girl Cubs Centres, FAS U12 Girls’
Football Festival, FAS Girls’ Assistance
Programme (GAP) as well as the
Goalkeeping Clinic. From these junior
categories, we have seen an increase
in participation rate of more than 30%
since 2017, a statistic that resonates
with the Council’s strategic vision to
further invest in the women’s game.
In 2019, the UEFA-FAS U15 Girls’
Development Tournament was hosted
for the first time, providing our girls

with an international platform to shine.
The FAS’ continuous efforts in
grassroots
development
were
recognised in December 2019 with the
AFC President’s Recognition Awards for
Grassroots Football 2019 – Developing;
this achievement only serves to further
enhance our efforts as we strive
towards the Gold level.
We have also made two key
appointments in 2019 which further
demonstrated
our
commitment
towards youth development. In
May 2019, former Socceroo Joseph
Palatsides, well-regarded in youth
development in Australian football
circles, joined as our Technical Director.
Six months later, Singapore icon Fandi
Ahmad was made Head of Elite Youth.
Together, they will help to strengthen
the current structures and elevate our
development methodologies.
Our
elite
youth
development
pathway had already undergone a
major change at the start of 2019,
with the discontinuation of the
FAS Football Academy. The net for
talent has since been cast wider; in
addition to scouting players across
all 83 secondary schools all over
Singapore, open trials were held for
the first time for those born in the
year 2006, to identify those who may
have otherwise slipped through the
system. The aim of these trials is to
recruit and groom talented players for
the upcoming AFF U15 Championship
in 2021. The trials attracted over 250
sign ups from players who wished to
go through a structured development
process under the tutelage of Coach
Philippe Aw. More age-group trials
for those born in 2007 and 2008
are scheduled to take place, as we
move towards ensuring a more
comprehensive scouting process to
identify, monitor and develop talented
players in preparation for upcoming
international competitions.
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Further enhancements were made to
the youth league pyramids with the
introduction of a U14 Development
League in 2018 and the introduction
of a U21 league in 2020, which
complement the U15 and U17 Centres
of Excellence leagues and provide a
direct pathway up to the SPL.
FRESH START FOR LIONS
At international level, there have
been early indications of our youth
development efforts paying off. Six U23
players, such as Jacob Mahler, Darren
Teh and Iqram Rifqi have made their
senior debuts since 2018 and a further
handful have been called up to be part
of the squad or National Team training
sessions.
The openness to ability, regardless
of age, is one of the firm beliefs of
Tatsuma Yoshida, who was appointed
as the Lions’ new Head Coach in
May 2019. The Japanese tactician has
not shied away from blooding fresh
talent and deserving performers in the
team, all while implementing a more
possession-based and attacking style
of play for the team.
This has seen the Lions achieve credible
results during their current FIFA World
Cup Qatar 2022™ and Asian Football
Confederation (AFC) Asian Cup 2023
Preliminary Joint Qualification Round 2
qualifying campaign, including victories
against higher-ranked Palestine and
Yemen, which have revived supporter
interest and optimism.
Their
female
counterparts,
the
Lionesses, have also sought to increase
exposure at international level. In 2015,
they played their first international
match in two years; since 2017, the
team has participated in tournaments

such as the ASEAN Football Federation
(AFF) Women’s Championships and
qualifiers for the 2019 FIFA Women’s
World Cup and 2020 Olympics. In the
last year, 14 matches were played by
the Lionesses as they continue to grow
in experience.
ENGAGING OUR FANS AND THE
LARGER COMMUNITY
Without the support of Singaporeans, it
will not be possible for us to succeed in
bringing local football to a higher level.
This is something we are keenly aware
of and as such, efforts to engage our
fans and the larger community have
been ramped up.
Fans of the SPL and our National
Teams will have noticed an increased
variety of digital content across our
social media platforms, such as match
and tournament updates, behind-thescenes footage and light-hearted video
segments that showcase our teams
and players. A new partnership this
year with Genius Sports offers, for the
first time ever, real-time statistics from
every match in the SPL and Singapore
Cup for unique and original insights.
Another collaboration with AIA, our
title sponsor, resulted in one of their
new campaigns featuring National
Team goalkeeper Hassan Sunny,
who received a shoutout from global
superstar David Beckham.
To reach out to the larger football
fraternity, we have regularly organised
community events such as the AFC
Women’s Football Day, Football with
a Heart and the FAS Walking Football
to cater to participants from all walks
of life.
Our local football fraternity came
together once again for FAS Nite 2019

as we celebrated the achievements
of various individuals and teams
over the course of the 2019 season
and recognized the contributions of
certain people toward Singapore’s
football over the years. A total of 53
awards were handed out, including 10
special awards, to highlight the stellar
achievements and contributions of
these individuals and teams. We also
livestreamed this annual event for the
first time to allow more people to be
part of the celebrations and to be part
of Singapore’s football.
We have also carried on with our
Corporate
Social
Responsibility
activities, by engaging with Club
Rainbow for children with disabilities,
and having personnel from the FAS and
SPL clubs distribute hand sanitiser to the
public as part of an initiative by Temasek
Foundation during the COVID-19
pandemic. It should also be noted that
many of our SPL clubs have established
their own community outreach
programmes; indeed, this collective
effort is heartening to witness.
STRIVING ON AMIDST A PANDEMIC
Of course, it would be remiss not to
mention the impact of COVID-19 on all
of our activities. The global pandemic
has hit everyone hard in myriad ways,
but I am proud of how we, as one FAS
together with the football fraternity,
have risen to cope with the challenges
that it has brought.
As football leagues across the world
began to shut down, the SPL continued
to hold out as we endeavoured to
keep the competition going while
adhering to the necessary health
and safety precautions and protocols
advised by the Singapore Government.
Our fans responded in force by turning

up in droves to support the clubs.
Even when it was necessary to play
our games behind closed doors, the
first time in the history of the SPL, the
FAS continued to provide access to
the fans via broadcast platforms on
Singtel and StarHub as well as online
streaming channels. This resulted in
our online viewership numbers spiking
to new highs as football fans once
again demonstrated their support for
local football.
When the government directive
came to suspend all sports events,
we complied with the decision
immediately and began looking into
the possible repercussions this would
have on our SPL players and club
staff. At the topmost of our priorities
was to ensure that jobs and wages of
the players, officials and staff are not
severely impacted by the pandemic
and this was made clear during the
early days of the pandemic where
we managed to roll-out the financial
assistance packages to the SPL clubs.
Our capability development efforts
also took on more importance as
the FAS invested resources to assist
not just officials and players from the
SPL, but also the Singapore Football
League (formerly known as the
National Football League), Islandwide
League and Women’s Leagues. These
included curating a range of relevant
online courses and workshops and
communities of practice content, all
aimed at upskilling their knowledge and
capabilities. Similar initiatives were also
extended to all full-time working FAS in
the form of online courses that could
prove helpful for both work as well as
personal professional development.
We also sought to show solidarity for
those adversely affected by COVID-19.

The FAS, together with the two
clubs that contested the 2020 AIA
Community Shield, Tampines Rovers
FC and Hougang United FC, made a
collective donation to The Courage
Fund, which is facilitated by Community
Chest and National Council of Social
Service (NCSS). Tallied with gate
proceeds from the match, a total of
$25,000 was raised.
Pushed to seek new forms of fan
engagement, we collaborated with
our compatriots from Japan, Malaysia
and Chinese Taipei for a friendly
quadrangular
esport
tournament.
Called the ‘StayAndPlay Asian Series
2020’, Tampines Rovers midfielder Joel
Chew teamed up with Team Flash’s
Amraan Gani, a professional eSports
player, to emerge victorious and do us
proud.
This initial foray into esports swiftly
gave rise to the inaugural edition
of the eSPL, our very own football
video game tournament, which was
conceived as a pilot project that is
part of the SPL’s larger strategy to
expand the domestic game into the
esports arena. Reaching over 740,000
people, with 154,000 views on social
media, the eSPL proved to be a hit and
I look forward to seeing it grow from
strength to strength.
MOVING FORWARD AND
STAYING UNITED
The resilience that has been shown by
everyone, along with the unwavering
support of all our partners and sponsors,
is gratifying and bodes well for an
ambitious long-term commitment –
Goal 2034.

football to greater heights, and galvanise
the nation towards a common goal. It is
a bold and ambitious project and while
it would not be easy for us to make it
to the World Cup, but, as the NSA for
football, the FAS is of the view that we
must set bold targets, and we must try.
It must also be emphasised that Goal
2034 must be viewed as a longerterm aspiration that requires a national
concerted effort, unlike Goal 2010. It is
a goal which the FAS is happy to lead,
but it must be a goal of the country, and
all its relevant stakeholders. This gives
us the best chance of succeeding. We
are heartened to have the Ministry of
Culture, Community & Youth pledging
its support for this project, and we will
continue to work closely with other
stakeholders to refine our visions and
plans for 2034.
Football is a sport that fosters
togetherness and it is our duty to
show an exemplary attitude towards a
nationwide solidarity. The progress of
local football is a collective effort that
requires active participation from all
individuals; be it the players, coaches,
clubs, staff, fans, partners and other
stakeholders. If we stay united on all
fronts, I have full confidence that we
can overcome all adversities that come
our way. Together, we can achieve
more. Together, we are #ONESTRONG.
Yours sincerely,

Lim Kia Tong
President
Football Association of Singapore

Goal 2034 is a statement of the FAS’
ambition and desire to push Singapore
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regional competitions, including the
SEA Games in 2021.
Our commitment to ensure further
progress in the various areas of our
administration will make the FAS
more effective across the whole
Game, and we will continue to adapt
and develop, using the constant
opportunities provided by new
technologies to offer an even higher
level of support to the football
ecosystem here in Singapore.

GENERAL SECRETARY’S
MESSAGE
Dear friends in football,
The past year has been an eventful
one for many of us at the Football
Association of Singapore (FAS). Trials
and tribulations were aplenty, and we
have had to deal with many challenges
that came our way. This has made
sheer grit and resilience all the more
important as we strive on our mission
to develop a vibrant football culture
to enhance national life, further
strengthen social harmony and evoke
the Singapore spirit.
Identifying clear areas of growth in
our strategic plan has proved vital in
driving positive changes across the
organisation and across Singapore
football. Our challenge now is to
build on this and further strengthen
partnerships with stakeholders and
affiliates to achieve the milestones set
in this shared vision.

Commercial highlights over this
past year included ground-breaking
domestic broadcast partnerships with
Singtel and StarHub for the Singapore
Premier League (SPL), ensuring all
128 matches in the competition
will be available ‘live’ for fans over
the cable network starting from
the 2020 season. Accordingly, we
have also invested strongly in digital
transformation to bring the Game
up to date with technology. 2019
saw a 100% live-stream broadcast of
all SPL and Singapore Cup matches,
with online viewership hitting record
numbers of up to 1.6 million viewers.
We take responsibility to ensure the
regulations of the Game continues to
be of a high standard as we continue
to seek enhancements in our robust
systems in place, including an effective
and well-regulated registration process
which ensures the seamless transfers

of players. Our zero-tolerance attitude
and prevention efforts to performance
enhancing substances as well as to
match-fixing puts us amongst the
industry’s best. Our ongoing efforts
to recruit, develop and expose match
officials to the highest levels will help
us enhance the quality and diversity of
referees entering the Game.
Improving
our
national
teams’
competitive results continues to be
a key priority, while ensuring our
commitment to grassroots and youth
remain intact. The men’s senior team
are currently sitting third in their FIFA
World Cup 2022 Qualifiers 2nd Round
group, after chalking out credible wins
against Palestine and Yemen. Our
Lionesses continue their rebuilding
project as we see more younger
players coming into the fold to be part
of the team as they aim to convince
selectors for a chance at future

The FAS ramped up efforts throughout
the year to ensure a holistic and
all-round development from all
departments and will continue to build
on these in the years to come.
NATIONAL TEAMS
Slightly over a year ago, the Lions, led
by Coach Tatsuma Yoshida embarked
on their FIFA World Cup 2022
Qualifiers Round 2 with impressive
displays to follow. Despite being
the lowest ranked in the group, they
now stand in third position behind
leaders Uzbekistan and Saudi Arabia.
These displays have also led to some
renewed optimism among our fans,
and with the campaign set to resume
in March 2021, and with the Asean
Football Federation Championships
to follow, the Lions are seeking to
continue where they left off in their
bid to further bring pride and joy to
the nation.
While we acknowledge our Under-22
National Team’s results at the SEA
Games 2019 were not ideal, these
boys are still at an early stage of their
careers and we hope they can learn
from their experiences to do better in
the future.
One of them, striker Ikhsan Fandi,
became the first Singaporean to play
in a European league after Daniel
Bennett in 2003. Ikhsan currently
turns out for Norwegian First Division

club Raufoss IL and has, evidently
developed his overall game which only
bodes well for whenever he dons the
national kit. His example proves that
we are capable of producing talent
who can cut it at a higher level, and we
hope that this inspires other players
to follow suit and test themselves in
more competitive foreign leagues.
We
also
hosted
the
Asian
Football Confederation (AFC) U16
Championship
2020
Qualifiers
last year, allowing our U15 boys to
experience the feeling of representing
their country in front of a home crowd.
While we did not progress beyond
the qualifiers in a group that included
DPR Korea, the team will have gained
invaluable memories and experience
as we have seen some of the players
going on to be selected on merit by
SPL clubs and the Young Lions.
We continue to invest in our
infrastructure, and with the support
and
assistance
of
government
stakeholders, we are anticipating
the soon-to-be-operational Kallang
Football Hub where our national
teams of all levels will be based.
These foundations will give all teams
representing our nation a clear focus
and direction to build towards success
in the future.
LEADING EDUCATION FOR A
DIVERSE ECOSYSTEM
We are aware that a key factor in
developing our pipeline for the
National Team is the availability of
qualified coaches to help players
on their journey. As such, our
Coach Education & Development
department organised several FIFA
and AFC events for the first time,
such as the FIFA Grassroots Coach
Developer’s Course, FIFA Coach
Developer’s Course and AFC Level
1 Futsal Coaching Course. All of
these courses were fully subscribed,
which signals the appetite and

demand from local coaches are
ever present.
We also successfully hosted the FIFA
Technical Director’s Workshop, where
delegates from 15 AFC Member
Associations (MAs) were in attendance.
The workshop managed to derive
insights from the different philosophies
and methodologies of the MAs in
key areas of technical development.
With the included participation of the
General Secretaries, it also allowed
for the alignment of key objectives
between the Technical Directors and
senior management. At the same time,
we were commended for effectively
hosting this event despite the short
notice given.
Proactively, when the COVID-19
pandemic forced the suspension of
football activities in April 2020, my
colleagues at the Coach Education
and Development curated content to
further build capabilities for coaches
of all levels, including the organisation
of the Elite Coaching Applications
webinar series helmed by Ivan
Jolic, the current Assistant Coach
of the Australian women’s national
team. Close to 200 participants
comprising Head Coaches, Heads
of Youth Development, Centre of
Excellence (COE) Coaches from
the AIA Singapore Premier League
(SPL) clubs, as well as other localbased coaches were in attendance
and engaged in active discussions.
To further cater to our important
grassroots educators, a further 10
webinars on various topics such as
Injury Prevention & Management,
Sport Psychology and Mental Health
in Football, were also conducted with
close to 1000 coaches taking part in
the series of workshops.
OPPORTUNITIES TO PLAY
To further reinforce our youth
development pathways, the U14
Developmental League and the U21
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League have been introduced. The
U14 League consists of teams from
SPL clubs, private academies and
community groups which enables us
to cast the net wider when scouting
for youth talent. These two league
initiatives serve to complement
the existing U15 and U17 Centre of
Excellence Leagues and provide a
smooth transition up to the SPL. At the
school levels, the Inter-School Futsal
League continued for the second
year running, with more than 1,400
students from 57 primary schools and
51 secondary schools taking part and
included the participation of girls for
the first time in this tournament. The
second edition showed that interest in
futsal from schools continues to grow
given the 13% increase in participation
compared to 2018.
More was also done to encourage
active participation from girls.
We continued the FAS Girl Cubs
Centres, adding a third new centre
at Meridian Secondary School,
which boosted the number of girls
to 85 compared to 40 the previous
year. The FAS U12 Girls’ Festival
was incorporated into the National
School Games’ Calendar for the
first time in 2019, and through this
collaboration, attracted 550 girls
from the primary schools, 120 more
than the previous year. Finally, we
also created the FAS Girls Assistance
Programme (GAP), which is targeted
at all primary schools in Singapore
and acts as a platform to engage the
primary school girls in the sport.
ADMINISTRATIVE ENHANCEMENTS
Over the past year, FAS has strengthened
several departments with the arrival of
new hires within the ranks of the senior
management team. As we continue
to develop capabilities internally, both
as an institution and as a collection
of individuals, we had also synergised

expertise in order to better serve our
stakeholders and the fraternity.

portion of his monthly salary in support
of this cause.

On the Technical front, we welcomed
Tatsuma Yoshida as the National
Team Coach after a thorough search
for an individual who could bring
our Lions further in the quest for
national glory, while Fandi Ahmad’s
appointment as Head of Elite Youth
completes the leadership team at
the FAS’ key department along with
Technical Director Joseph Palatsides.
The synergy between Joseph, Fandi
and Tatsuma is vital as it affects the
development, philosophy, and style
of play across all segments of our
football landscape and while we are
pleased to see promising indicators
so far, we are aware it is early stages
still and are hopeful to be able to
build on this further.

With the restrictions put in place by
the government to stem the spread
of COVID-19, this year’s Hari Raya
Aidilfitri celebrations took on a very
different atmosphere for the Muslim
community. The National Team players
and FAS staff took the initiative to
volunteer their time to distribute food
and other essentials to residents from
Pertapis Children’s Home, Pertapis
Centre for Women & Girls, Jamiyah
Halfway House and Jamiyah Home
for the Aged. Their actions went some
way towards bringing a bit of festive
joy to those who were unable to see
their immediate families due to the
visiting regulations imposed then.

PLAYING OUR PART IN THE
COMMUNITY
We understand how important it is
to give back to society during these
unprecedented times as part of our
efforts to forge stronger bonds with
the community.
When it became clear that certain
segments of our people would be more
severely affected by the COVID-19
pandemic than others, National Team
Coach Tatsuma Yoshida, along with
the FAS senior management staff,
voluntarily came together to establish
the OneStrong Fund, a collective trust
that seeks to support less privileged
families and children amidst the
COVID-19 situation.
The total seed amount totalling
S$50,000 inclusive of the government’s
support through the bicentennial
dollar-for-dollar offer, comprised the
2019 annual salary bonuses being
given up in full by the FAS staff as well
as Tatsuma contributing a significant

COPING WITH A PANDEMIC
All of the above achievements would
not have been possible without the
tireless and concerted efforts of
my colleagues, our volunteers, our
partners and member clubs. The FAS
considers the well-being of everyone
in the football fraternity, including
staff members, to be of the utmost
importance and as such, even with the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on
the revenue of the FAS, every effort was
made to ensure that our commitments
to stakeholders remain intact, and
ensuring employment statuses of FAS
staff and SPL club players and officials
would not be affected.
This was made possible with our
internal
resource
re-allocation
together with the various available
government’s aids, to ensure we
remain
sustainable
during
this
period. In addition, an internal FASled COVID-19 Support Group (CSG)
was also established to provide help
for any FAS staff member or club
employee who required assistance.
This could be in the form of special

work considerations or dispensations,
emotional
and/or
psychological
support, and guidance on any available
government schemes or aids.
We remain committed to provide
a sense of security and stability to
all during this tumultuous period.
Proactively, the FAS has also taken
this time to further develop our
internal capabilities by mandating FAS
staff’s enrolment in industry-specific
online courses which would expand
and upgrade their range of skillsets.
At the same time, these resources
were extended to clubs to enable
them to build on their capabilities as
well. While there were no live football
activities during the circuit breaker
period, we continued to push content
through various other mediums to codevelop capabilities with the fraternity
and to stay engaged with the public
at large.
ADJUSTING TO THE NEW NORMAL
Of course, the pandemic and the
restrictions it has brought about has
meant that footballing activities at the
FAS have not been able to continue
as usual. For months, we have had to
deal with the postponement of SPL
and other events, bringing organised
sports as we know it to a complete
standstill. Staff have had to adapt to
working from home, which brings
about a new set of challenges.
The suspension of the SPL also meant
that we had to think of alternative and
innovative methods to stay in touch
with our fanbase. A variety of content
was introduced on our social media
platforms to keep our fans engaged,
mainly centred around the 25th
anniversary of the League. We also
dipped our toes in the e-sports arena
and developed the eSPL, which is
set to be a recurring initiative for the
future, after a successful inaugural

competition in July 2020 involving our
SPL clubs.
Other initiatives to engage the public
included
Football
Science
and
Medicine (FSAM) webinars on how to
maximise football performance, virtual
football camps for girls held via Zoom,
video content on football drills, online
viral challenges, a new ‘Off the Bar’
series with Women’s national team
players and referees, online training
sessions with Young Lions via Zoom
as well as online analysis sessions for
referees.
We are heartened by the positive
reactions of fans towards our content
generation and pledge to follow
through with even more exciting
updates in store for them.
RENOVATION AND UPGRADING
PLANS
Considered by many to be the
birthplace of Singapore football, Jalan
Besar Stadium is an iconic football
landmark in Singapore. It is imperative
that we ensure its facilities remain in
top-notch condition, which is why we
intend to carry out renovation works
to upgrade the pitch.
The stadium is home to the FAS
headquarters,
which
will
also
be undergoing its first major
renovation since 2003 with the
assistance of the FIFA Forward
Funds, a fund specifically put aside
by the world governing body for
member associations’ head office
infrastructure needs. The new office
spaces will provide a more conducive
working environment for staff with
an open concept style to foster more
interaction and inclusiveness with the
football fraternity. In designing the
new office, special considerations
were made to ensure that the overall
look and feel exhibited our vibrant

football culture while remaining true
to our FAS values and commitment
to serve the football family.
All renovation and upgrading works
are scheduled to be completed by
early 2021 and we look forward to
welcoming you to our new home then.
SINGAPORE FOOTBALL BEYOND
THE HORIZON
We will continue to maintain our
focus on key areas such as youth
development as well as grassroots
activities, especially the nationwide
scouting for talent from different
age groups. We have enjoyed some
successes over the course of the year,
such as winning the Merlion Cup and
recording good performances in the
World Cup Qualifiers. It is time for us
to build on these positives now and
further improve the quality of Singapore
football in the years to come, in order
for consistent achievements across all
levels of our ecosystem.
The following pages describe in detail
the initiatives that were introduced,
on and off the pitch, in the Financial
Year from April 2019 to March 2020.
We are aware of the challenges and
obstacles that stand in our way as
we progress forward, but we remain
fully committed to overcoming them.
We are also looking forward to new
opportunities as we move along, so
that we can continue to build on the
betterment of local football and bring
glory and pride to our nation.
Yours sincerely,

Yazeen Buhari
General Secretary
Football Association of Singapore
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MILESTONES
APRIL 2019 - MARCH 2020

FAS GIRL CUBS CENTRES
To cater to increasing interest in girls’
football, the FAS launched a new Girl Cubs
centre at Meridian Secondary School in
August 2019, the third such centre to date.

ASIAN FOOTBALL
CONFEDERATION (AFC)
U16 CHAMPIONSHIP 2020
QUALIFIERS

APPOINTMENT OF
TATSUMA YOSHIDA AS
NATIONAL TEAM COACH
On 30 May 2019, Tatsuma Yoshida was
unveiled as the new National Team Coach,
becoming the first Japanese coach to helm
the Singapore football team.

Singapore hosted the Group I matches of
the AFC U16 Championship 2020 Qualifier,
which was held from 18 to 22 September
2019 at the Jalan Besar Stadium.
Despite not progressing beyond the group
stage, this tournament presented the
Singapore U15 boys with the opportunity
to represent their country in front of a
home crowd, which served as an invaluable
experience for them.

The Lions are currently third in Group D with
seven points from five games, two points
behind leaders Uzbekistan, and still stand a
chance to qualify for the next round.

PRIVATISATION OF SPL CLUB
Home United FC became the first club to
be privatised in the history of the SPL when
it was renamed as Lion City Sailors FC, in
February 2020. The new club will be under
the new ownership of leading homegrown
internet company, Sea Ltd, which is helmed
by FAS Council Member, Mr Forrest Li.

FIFA WORLD CUP QATAR
2022™ / AFC ASIAN CUP CHINA
2023 PRELIMINARY JOINT
QUALIFICATION ROUND 2
The Lions began their FIFA World Cup Qatar
2022™ and Asian Football Confederation
(AFC) Asian Cup 2023 Preliminary Joint
Qualification Round 2 campaign in
September 2019. National Team Coach
Tatsuma Yoshida oversaw a 2-2 opening
draw against Yemen followed by a stirring
2-1 victory against Palestine in front of a full
capacity crowd at Jalan Besar Stadium. It
turned out to be Singapore’s first win against
Middle Eastern opposition in 16 attempts.
Despite a defeat to Uzbekistan next, the
Lions followed up with an away victory
against Yemen.

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT
In line with the FAS key pillar of Youth
Development, the U14 Developmental
League was introduced. The U14 League
consisted of teams from SPL clubs, private
academies, schools and community groups
which enabled the FAS to cast the net wider
when scouting for youth talent.

Since then, there had been an increase in
the participation rate from 40 girls in 2019
to 85 girls as of January 2020. The centres
also serve as a talent-scouting platform and
13 girls from the programme have been
identified to join the U12 Development
Squad for additional training in a more
competitive environment.

PROJECT EVOLVERE
Jalan Besar Stadium has always been an
iconic football landmark in Singapore,
considered by many as the Home of
Singapore Football. To ensure that it
remains in pristine condition to host major
footballing events, the FAS embarked on
renovation works to upgrade the office
spaces as well as to re-turf the artificial
pitch. This renovation project marks the first
time FAS headquarters has undergone such
extensive upgrading works since 2003.
Termed ‘Project Evolvere’, it is part of the
FIFA Forward Project, which is an initiative of
the FAS President to help the organisation
develop and improve their operations
and processes.
All renovation and upgrading works are
scheduled to be ready by 2021.

MERLION CUP
Fandi Ahmad’s U22 boys created history by
winning the Merlion Cup for the first time
since its commencement in 1982.
The iconic tournament returned to the
Singapore football calendar in June 2019
– a decade after it was last held. A new
quadrangular format was introduced and
the national U22 sides of Thailand, Indonesia
and the Philippines were invited
to participate.
The livestream broadcast in all participating
countries garnered over 4 million views,
indicating the popularity of the Merlion Cup
that is steeped in history.

INTER-SCHOOL FUTSAL
CHALLENGE 2019
FIFA TECHNICAL DIRECTORS
WORKSHOP
As part of efforts to contribute to the
development of football in the region, the
FAS hosted the FIFA Technical Directors
workshop from 30 September to
5 October 2019.
Delegates from 15 Asian Football
Confederation Member Associations (MAs)
attended the six-day workshop. General
Secretaries from the participating MAs were
also invited to be part of the workshop
in recognition of the need for both the
Technical Directors and Management to
be aligned in their vision to achieve overall
success in football development.

Singapore’s largest school futsal tournament,
the Inter-School Futsal Challenge (ISFC),
returned for a second edition in 2019. The
introduction of the Cup, Plate and Bowl
categories meant that more teams could
feature in the tournament, whilst also
increasing their playing time.
On top of that, the FAS also introduced
the girls’ U10 and U14 categories to ride
on the growing interest in girls’ football in
schools, allowing them to participate in the
tournament for the first time.

BROADCAST PARTNERSHIPS

ONESTRONG FUND
As part of FAS efforts to forge stronger
bonds with the community, the OneStrong
Fund was established to support less
privileged families and children amidst the
COVID-19 situation.
National Team Coach Tatsuma Yoshida,
along with members of the FAS senior
management staff, contributed to the fund
by giving up their 2019 annual salary bonus
in full, with the former also donating a
significant portion of his salary in support of
the cause. The total seed amount totalled
S$50,000, inclusive of the government’s
support through matching the donations
dollar-for-dollar.

In February this year, FAS announced new
unprecedented broadcast deals for the
Singapore Premier League (SPL). For the
first time in history, fans could watch every
football match LIVE on television, on either
Starhub or Singtel. In addition, all matches
will continue to be live-streamed online.
In another first, fans will also have access
to real-time match statistics for every game
on the SPL website, which will be powered
by Genius Sports as part of FAS’ continued
efforts to enhance the digital match-day
experience for fans.

KOMOCO MOTORS
SINGAPORE CUP
Komoco Motors came on board in August
2019 as the new title sponsor of the
Singapore Cup, which proved to be an
exciting competition with many thrills and
spills., Tampines Rovers eventually edged
Warriors FC 4-3 to lift the trophy in front of a
packed Jalan Besar Stadium.
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COUNCIL MEMBERS

TEAM FAS
ADVISORS

Mah Bow Tan

A/P Ho Peng Kee

(former Minister for National
Development)
Occupation: Chairman
Organisation: Globalcities Consult Pte Ltd

(former Senior Minister of State for Law and
Home Affairs)

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Darwin Jalil

Dr. Dinesh Nair

Forrest Li

Occupation: Group Executive Director
Organisation: Project Vaults
Group Pte. Ltd.

Occupation: Cardiologist
Organisation: Hearts Matters Medical
Centre Pte. Ltd.

Occupation: Chairman and Group
Chief Executive Officer
Organisation: SEA

Kelvin Teo

Lim Tong Hai

Michael Foo

Occupation: Chief Executive Officer
Organisation: Sembcorp Development Ltd.

Occupation: Team Lead
Organisation: Sport Singapore

Occupation: Director, South East
Community Development Division
Organisation: People’s Association

Lim Kia Tong

Bernard Tan

Edwin Tong

Rizal Rasudin, PBM

Sharda Pavin

Yakob Hashim

PRESIDENT
Occupation: Lawyer
Organisation: Hin Tat Augustine & Partners
Attendance: 5/7

DEPUTY PRESIDENT
Occupation: Country President Singapore
Organisation: Sinar Mas Group
Attendance: 6/7

VICE-PRESIDENT
(Stepped down on 24 July 2020 for
ministerial role at MCCY)
Minister for Community, Culture & Youth and
Second Minister for Law
Attendance: 4/7

Occupation: Managing Director
Organisation: OurBoss Pte Ltd

Occupation: Educator
Organisation: Pathlight School

Occupation: Police Officer (Retired)

Razali Saad

S. Thavaneson

Teo Hock Seng

VICE-PRESIDENT
Occupation: Assistant Director
Organisation: Sport Singapore
Attendance: 7/7

VICE-PRESIDENT
Occupation: Chartered Accountant/
Entrepreneur (Retired)
Attendance: 7/7

VICE-PRESIDENT
Occupation: Executive Chairman
Organisation: Komoco Holdings Pte Ltd
Attendance: 5/7

EX-OFFICIOS

Lelaina Lim

Yazeen Buhari

Occupation: Group Chief Financial Officer
Organisation: Eu Yan Sang International
Limited

General Secretary
Football Association of Singapore
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CHAIRPERSONS OF
COMMITTEES
Audit & Compliance
Committee

AFFILIATES

ORDINARY MEMBERS 2019

Standing Committees
(2017 – 2021)

ADMIRALTY CSC

ADMIRALTY FC

ALBIREX NIIGATA (S) FC

BALESTIER KHALSA FC

BALESTIER UNITED
RECREATION CLUB

BISHAN BARX FC

BUKIT TIMAH JUNIORS
PTE LTD

EUNOS CRESCENT FC

GEYLANG
INTERNATIONAL FC

GFA SPORTING WESTLAKE
FC

GFA VICTORIA FC

GOMBAK UNITED FC

GYMKHANA FC

HOME UNITED FC

HOUGANG UNITED FC

JUNGFRAU PUNGGOL FC

KAKI BUKIT SPORTS CLUB

KATONG FC

KEMBANGAN UNITED FC

NTUC CLUB

POLICE SPORTS
ASSOCIATION

SAFSA

SINGAPORE CRICKET
CLUB

SINGAPORE
GOVERNMENT SERVICES
FOOTBALL LEAGUE

SINGAPORE KHALSA
ASSOCIATION

SINGAPORE
RECREATION CLUB

SINGAPORE XIN HUA
SPORTS CLUB

SINGTEL
RECREATION CLUB

SOUTH AVENUE
SPORTS CLUB

ST. MICHAEL’S SOCCER
ASSOCIATION

STARLIGHT
SOCCERITES FC

TAMPINES CHANGKAT
CSC

TAMPINES ROVERS FC

TANJONG PAGAR
UNITED FC

TIONG BAHRU FC

WARRIORS FC

WARWICK KNIGHTS FC

WINCHESTER ISLA FC

WOODLANDS
WELLINGTON FC

YISHUN SENTEK
MARINERS FC

(2017 – 2021)

Mr Jackson Yap
Chairperson

Electoral Committee
(2017 – 2021)

Mr Ng Yong Ern Raymond
Chairperson

Electoral Appeal
Committee
(2017 – 2021)

Mr Eu Hai Meng
Chairperson

Judicial Bodies

Mr Bernard Tan
Administration & Finance
Chairperson

Mr Teo Hock Seng
Players’ Welfare
Chairperson

Mr Edwin Tong
Legal
Chairperson
(until 24 July 2020)

Mr Razali Saad
Disability and Special Needs Players
Chairperson
Mr Lim Tong Hai
Referees
Chairperson

Mr Forrest Li
Business Development
Chairperson

Mr Bernard Tan
Facilities
Chairperson

Dr Dinesh Nair
Medical
Chairperson

Mr Rizal Rasudin, PBM
Security
Chairperson

Mr Michael Foo
Community Outreach,
Grassroots & Volunteer
Chairperson

Mr Lim Kia Tong
Football Development & Excellence
Chairperson

(2017 – 2021)

Mr Abdul Salim Ahmed
Ibrahim, PBM
Appeal | Chairperson
Mr Jeffrey Beh
Ethics | Chairperson
Mr K. Bala Chandran
Disciplinary | Chairperson

Mr Kelvin Teo
Players’ Status
Chairperson
Mr S. Thavaneson (2017 - 2019)
Mr Lim Kia Tong (2019 - 2021)
Competitions
Chairperson

Ms Sharda Parvin
Women’s
Chairperson
Mr Lim Kia Tong
International Relations
Chairperson

Club Licensing
(2019 – 2021)

Mr Mohamed Muzammil
First Instance Body
Chairperson

Mr Navindraram Naidu
Appeal Body
Chairperson
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AFFILIATES

FAS ORGANISATIONAL
STRUCTURE

ASSOCIATE MEMBERS 2019

ADMIRALTY RANGERS FC

BEDOK SOUTH AVENUE
SPORTS CLUB

BOON KENG SPORTS
RECREATIONAL CLUB

CHANGI VILLAGE SPORT
AND RECREATION CLUB

COMMONWEALTH
COSMOS FOOTBALL CLUB

TECHNICAL DIRECTOR
JOSEPH PALATSIDES

ELITE YOUTH
FANDI AHMAD

HUMAN CAPITAL &
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
FABIAN CHEW

ESPZEN PTE LTD

FOOTBALL REFEREES’
ASSOC. OF S’PORE

GDT CIRCUIT FC

GEYLANG SERAI
FOOTBALL CLUB

JSSL SOCCER SCHOOL &
LEAGUE PTE LTD

COACH EDUCATION &
DEVELOPMENT
MOHAMED ZAINUDEEN

COMPETITIONS
ALOYSIUS VETHA

FINANCE & PROCUREMENT
TINA SAW

SINGAPORE FOOTBALL
COACHES ASSOCIATION

SINGAPORE HOTEL
ASSOCIATION

STILL AERION WOMEN’S
FOOTBALL CLUB

TEMASEK POLYTECHNIC
FOOTBALL TEAM

GOALKEEPING
RAMESHPAL SINGH

KALLANG SPORTIF
HUSKIES FOOTBALL CLUB

COMMERCIAL & MARKETING
JONATHAN WONG

GENERAL SECRETARY
YAZEEN BUHARI
LITTLE LEAGUE PTE LTD

MIDDLE RANGERS
FOOTBALL CLUB

PHOENIX PRIDE
FOOTBALL CLUB

PRISON SPORTS &
RECREATION CLUB

REFEREES
NAZEER HUSSAIN
YOUTH PROGRAMMES
ADMINISTRATION
VARATHA RAJAN

PROJECT VAULTS OXLEY
SPORTS CLUB

GENERAL SECRETARY’S OFFICE
GERARD CHRISTOPHER

REPUBLIC FOOTBALL
CLUB

ROYAL ARION WFC

SIGLAP FOOTBALL CLUB

SIMEI UNITED FOOTBALL
CLUB

NATIONAL TEAMS MANAGEMENT
ERIC ONG

VERDE CRESTA
COMBINED SPORTS CLUB

GRASSROOTS &
WOMEN’S FOOTBALL
JULIE TEO

CORPORATE COMMUNICATIONS
MUSTAFFA EHSAN

WOODLANDS LIONS
FOOTBALL CLUB

WOODLANDS WARRIORS
FOOTBALL CLUB

X-LEAGUE

YISHUN FOOTBALL CLUB

NATIONAL ‘A’ TEAM COACH
TATSUMA YOSHIDA

YOUNG SIKH
ASSOCIATION (S)
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FOOTBALL
SCIENCE & MEDICINE
HAIYUM JAAFAR

OUR
SPONSORS &
PARTNERS

SPONSORS & PARTNERS
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Singapore’s largest school futsal tournament, the
Inter-School Futsal Challenge (ISFC), returned for a
second edition in 2019.
Organised for the Under-10 and Under-14 age
groups with the support of Singapore Pools and
the Ministry of Education, the tournament included
girls’ teams for the first time.
An expanded roster of teams featured in this
iteration, while the introduction of the Cup, Plate
and Bowl categories allowed for teams to get more
playing time. This ties in with the FAS’ objectives of
youth development and increasing participation
at grassroots level, while a key focus of the ISFC
was also to instil values – Passion, Respect and
Teamwork – in the young students through sport.

The Sultan of
Selangor’s Cup 2019

A total of 1,426 participants from across 95 schools
took part in the tournament, which saw all the
matches apart from the finals being held at various
schools across the island during August and
September.

An annual event in the local football calendar,
The Sultan of Selangor’s Cup took place on
24 August 2019 at the Shah Alam Stadium in
Selangor, Malaysia.

The final day of matches in both categories were
staged at the OCBC Arena and live-streamed on the
Facebook page of local broadcaster 1Play Sports,

In front of 54,920 spectators, the Singapore
Selection side – led by Singapore legend Nazri
Nasir – was narrowly edged out 1-0 by their
Selangor counterparts in the 18th edition of the
international friendly competition.

1,426

N

Singapore Pools FAS Inter-School Futsal
Challenge 2019
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SPONSORS & PARTNERS

95

culminating in Meridian Secondary sweeping both
boys’ and girls’ crowns in the U14 category while
Tanjong Katong Primary and Haig Girls’ School
emerged victorious in the U10 tournament.

Under-10 (Boys)
Champions: Tanjong Katong Primary School
Runners-up: White Sands Primary School
Third: Clementi Primary School
Under-10 (Girls) Champions:
Haig Girls’ School
Runners-up: Yangzheng Primary School
Under-14 (Boys)
Champions: Meridian Secondary School (A)
Runners-up: Bartley Secondary School
Third: Bendemeer Secondary School (Z)
Under-14 (Girls)
Champions: Meridian Secondary School (B)
Runners-up: Dunman Secondary School
Third: Boon Lay Secondary School
Partners: MOE, Field Catering, 100Plus
Singapore Pools and Sport Singapore.

Prior to the main event, there was a showdown
between the veterans from both sides. Featuring
the likes of Fandi Ahmad, Razali Saad, Indra
Sahdan and Nazri, the Singapore Veterans
reclaimed the title having last won it outright
in 2016 thanks to Yazid Yasin’s penalty-saving
heroics after a 0-0 draw.
In the Singapore-Selangor Schools Challenge Cup
that took place before the Veterans’ match, the
Selangor Under-15s won the Singapore-Selangor
Schools Challenge Cup title for the second
consecutive year after defeating the Singapore
side 3-1.

FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE | ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2020

FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE | ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2020

24

25
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Komoco Motors
Singapore Cup 2019
The FAS unveiled Komoco Motors as the new title
sponsor of the Singapore Cup as part of a oneyear agreement in August 2019 after a 14-year
partnership with RHB Singapore ended.
To celebrate a new chapter in Singapore football,
a fresh Singapore Cup logo was unveiled at the
announcement. With a youthful and uplifting
vibe, it represents the FAS’ key objectives of youth
development and a vibrant football culture, and
also features iconic representations of Singapore
to emphasise the tournament’s standing as
Singapore’s premier cup competition.

FAS Congress Cup 2019
The second edition of the annual seven-a-side
friendly tournament, which serves as a platform
to foster and strengthen ties amongst members
of the football fraternity and stakeholders through
football, was held in September 2019.

Dollah Kassim Award
Singapore youth midfielder Iman Hakim Ibrahim
won the 2019 The New Paper Dollah Kassim Award,
which recognises talented young footballers and
provides opportunities for them to further develop
their footballing skills abroad.

As a prelude to the FAS Congress, a total of
twelve teams and over 120 members from
various groups of the football fraternity – the
FAS, partners and sponsors, Singapore Premier
League, National Football League, women’s
football, ex-internationals, fans and the media
– gathered at the Jalan Besar Stadium for a fun
evening of football.

The 17-year-old Singapore Sports School student
earned himself an overseas training stint with a
reputable football academy in Europe, courtesy of
Singapore Pools.
Iman pipped five other nominees to the prestigious
annual accolade, which was started in 2009 in
honour of one of Singapore’s finest ever players.
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FIFA TECHNICAL
DIRECTORS WORKSHOP
As part of efforts to contribute to the development
of football in the region, the FAS hosted the FIFA
Technical Directors workshop from 30 September
to 5 October 2019.
The programme, kick-started by FIFA in 2016,
aims to develop the capabilities of Technical
Directors through equipping them with additional
knowledge in areas that are crucial to the overall
football development.
Delegates from 15 Asian Football Confederation
Member Associations (MAs) attended the six-day
workshop which covered topics such as FIFA’s
development strategy and capacity building

approach, match, training and coach education
analysis as well as national football and technical
development.
To facilitate the exchange of knowledge and
experience, the Technical Directors also shared the
philosophy and methodology of their respective
MAs in key areas of technical development.
General Secretaries from the participating MAs
were also invited to be part of the workshop in
recognition of the need for both the Technical
Directors and management to be aligned in
their vision to achieve overall success in football
development.
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In The Spotlight
Safuwan Baharudin was recognised as one of
Southeast Asia’s best players in November 2019
when he was named as part of the Asean Best
XI at the AFF Awards 2019.
The 28-year-old centre-back had starred in the
AFF Championship the year before and became
the fifth Singaporean to be selected to the Best
XI after Baihakki Khaizan, Mustafic Fahrudin,
Shahril Ishak (all 2013) and Hariss Harun (2015
and 2017).

Special Appreciation
One of the finest strikers to ever pull on a Singapore
jersey, Khairul Amri called time on an illustrious
15-year international career in September 2019.

A key figure in the Lions’ backline, Safuwan
scored the winning goal in Singapore’s World
Cup qualifier against Palestine at home in
September 2019 and is closing in on a century
of caps, having made 96 appearances for the
National Team.

The 34-year-old found the back of the net 32
times for the Lions in 132 appearances, placing
him as the National Team’s third-highest all-time
top scorer and fourth most-capped player.

His consistent performances led to Malaysian
giants Selangor FA signing him in February
2020 for the new league campaign, making it
the ninth consecutive season for Safuwan in
the Malaysia Super League.

A precocious attacking talent in his youth days,
Amri was part of the now-defunct National
Football Academy in 2000 and turned professional
in 2004. The same year, he was handed his
international debut by then-National Team Coach
Radojko Avramovic.

ASEAN BEST XI 2019

He blossomed into a fearsome predator, blessed
with razor-sharp pace and ruthless finishing ability
to become one of Southeast Asia’s best forwards.
Amri played in three ASEAN Football Federation
(AFF) Championship finals and, remarkably, scored
in each of them – a feat that remains unmatched
– as Singapore won the trophy on each occasion
(2005, 2007, 2012).
Still going strong at club level, Amri currently plies
his trade in the Malaysian Super League, having
moved from Tampines Rovers to Felda United in
May 2019.
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MEN’S ‘A’ TEAM

FIFA World Cup Qatar
2022TM / AFC Asian Cup
China 2023 Preliminary
Joint Qualification
Round 2

International ‘A’
Friendlies

The Lions began their FIFA World Cup Qatar
2022™ and Asian Football Confederation (AFC)
Asian Cup 2023 Preliminary Joint Qualification
Round 2 campaign in September 2019.

Coach Yoshida’s first game in charge of the
Lions came in June 2019 – less than two weeks
after his appointment – against the Solomon
Islands at the National Stadium.

Having been drawn in Group D alongside Asian
powerhouses Saudi Arabia – who featured in the
2018 FIFA World Cup – and Uzbekistan, as well as
Yemen and Palestine, Singapore faced a daunting
challenge ahead of them.
However, under the charge of new National
Team Coach Tatsuma Yoshida, the Lions defied
expectations to put in good performances and
earn keenly-contested victories despite being the
lowest-ranked of the five teams.
In his first ever competitive assignment, the
Japanese tactician oversaw a 2-2 opening
draw against Yemen that the Lions could feel
unfortunate not to have won. That was followed
by a stirring 2-1 victory against Palestine in front of
a capacity crowd at Jalan Besar Stadium.
The Lions then fell to two consecutive defeats –
3-0 away to 2018 FIFA World Cup 2018 participant
Saudi Arabia and 3-1 at home to the 85th ranked
Uzbekistan – but nevertheless continued to
display a positive brand of possession and
attacking football. A second win was achieved
in the fifth qualifier against Yemen on neutral
ground in Bahrain, where Ikhsan Fandi opened
the scoring before Hafiz Nor hit a glorious winner
for his maiden international goal in a 2-1 success.

Captain Hariss Harun scored his 10th
international goal to seal a 4-3 win in the
friendly, which was one of four that were played
by Singapore in 2019. These included a credible
goal-less away draw to Jordan and a 2-0 away
defeat to reigning Asian champions Qatar.

Yoshida’s men currently sit third with seven points,
two and one behind leaders Uzbekistan and Saudi
Arabia respectively, with three games left. More
importantly, the Lions have earned plaudits from
supporters for their style of play throughout the
qualifiers so far and will look to build upon their
performances when the campaign resumes.

Since his appointment, Yoshida has looked to
blood new talent into the team and has handed
international debuts to five players: Fareez
Farhan, Hami Syahin, Hazzuwan Halim, Darren
Teh and Iqram Rifqi.

FIFA WORLD CUP QATAR 2022TM /
AFC ASIAN CUP CHINA 2023
5 SEP 2019
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MEN’S UNDER-22 TEAM

MEN’S UNDER-22 TEAM

Merlion Cup 2019
Fandi Ahmad’s Under-22 boys thrilled the nation
by storming to victory in the Merlion Cup, which
was staged for the eighth time.

In a tightly-contested final, Ikhsan Fandi’s clinical
finish proved to be the match-winner as Singapore
resolutely held off the favourites to claim the
trophy outright for the first time.

The iconic tournament, first staged in 1982,
returned to the Singapore football calendar in
June 2019 – a decade after it was last held. A new
quadrangular format was introduced and the
national U-22 sides of Thailand, Indonesia and the
Philippines were invited to participate.

30th SEA Games 2019
Despite
relatively
smooth
preparations,
Singapore did not enjoy the best of campaigns
at the 2019 SEA Games in the Philippines.

30TH SEA GAMES 2019

Hosted at Jalan Besar Stadium over two matchdays, Singapore saw off the Philippines in the semifinal to set up a showdown against powerhouses
Thailand.

A frustrating goal-less opening draw against
Laos, where they failed to capitalise on several
chances, set the tone for the rest of their Group
B matches.

26 NOV 2019
LAOS

0

VS

0

SINGAPORE

28 NOV 2019

Defeats to Indonesia and defending champions
Thailand, combined with other results, saw
Singapore eliminated at the group stage with
two matches left.

MERLION CUP 2019
7 JUN 2019
SINGAPORE U22

3

VS

0

PHILIPPINES U22

While a gritty display was produced in a 1-0
loss against eventual winners Vietnam and the
team thrashed Brunei 7-0 in their final game,
their sojourn in the biennial Games fell short of
expectations.

9 JUN 2019
SINGAPORE U22

1

VS

0

THAILAND U22

International
Friendlies

INDONESIA

2
3

2

VS

0

0

1

VS

0

BRUNEI

0

FIJI U22

FIJI U22

9 OCT 2019
SINGAPORE U22

0

VS

3

UAE U22

13 OCT 2019
SINGAPORE U22

4

VS

0

MACAU ‘A’

12 NOV 2019
SINGAPORE U22

4

VS

1

VS

0

SINGAPORE

VS

1

VIETNAM

5 DEC 2019

9 SEP 2019
SINGAPORE U22

SINGAPORE

3 DEC 2019
SINGAPORE

6 SEP 2019
SINGAPORE U22

0

1 DEC 2019
THAILAND

INTERNATIONAL FRIENDLIES

The U-22s also participated in five international
friendlies as part of their preparations for the 30th
Southeast Asian (SEA) Games, posting four wins
and one loss.

VS

PERTH GLORY U20
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VS

7

SINGAPORE

NATIONAL TEAMS

NATIONAL TEAMS

BOYS’ UNDER-15 AND UNDER-18 NATIONAL TEAM

BOYS’ UNDER-15 AND UNDER-18 NATIONAL TEAM

AFF UNDER-15 FOOTBALL
TOURNAMENT 2019

HONG KONG JOCKEY CUP 2019
19 APR 2019
SINGAPORE U18

0

VS

1

26 JUL 2019
VIETNAM U18

SINGAPORE

0

19 APR 2019
SINGAPORE U15

1

VS

0

2

VS

0

MALAYSIA U15

SINGAPORE

0

Hong Kong Jockey
Cup 2019
The Singapore U15 and U18 National Teams
took part in the Jockey Club International Youth
Invitational Football Tournament 2019 in Hong
Kong. Held from 19 to 22 April, the tournament
also featured teams from Malaysia, Myanmar,
Vietnam and hosts Hong Kong.

3

VS

2

SINGAPORE U18

2

VS

1

SINGAPORE

SINGAPORE U15

SINGAPORE U18

22 APR 2019
MYANMAR U15

2

VS

4

As part of preparations for the AFF U15 Football
Tournament 2019, Singapore played two away
friendlies – which ended in defeats against
neighbours Malaysia.

0

SINGAPORE

0

AFF Under-15 Football
Tournament 2019

SINGAPORE

3

The AFF U15 Football Tournament was held
from 25 July to 10 August 2019 at Chonburi,
Thailand. Singapore was drawn in Group A with
Myanmar, Indonesia, Vietnam, Timor-Leste and
Philippines. Group B featured Thailand, Laos,
Australia, Malaysia, Brunei and Cambodia.

VS

2

MALAYSIA

27 JUN 2019
SINGAPORE

0

VS

4

VS

1

VIETNAM

VS

4

TIMOR-LESTE

VS

2

PHILIPPINES

The squad of 22 boys, led by Coach Philippe
Aw, started the campaign with a credible draw
against Myanmar but finished fourth out of six
teams in Group A, capping off with a victory
against Philippines in the last match of the
competition.

25 JUN 2019

0

INDONESIA

4 AUG 2019

INTERNATIONAL FRIENDLIES
SINGAPORE

3

SINGAPORE U15

The squad of 20 boys included three players
from National ‘B’ Division champions Jurongville
Secondary School and were selected from a
pool of 60 school players, who had been invited
for training sessions since the start of 2019.
Additionally, U18 National Team Head Coach
Fadzuhasny Juraimi called up six players from the
Singapore Premier League clubs.

International Friendlies

VS

2 AUG 2019

22 APR 2019
MYANMAR U18

MYANMAR

31 JUL 2019

20 APR 2019
HONG KONG U15

0

29 JUL 2019

20 APR 2019
HONG KONG U18

VS

MALAYSIA
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NATIONAL TEAMS

NATIONAL TEAMS

BOYS’ UNDER-15 AND UNDER-18 NATIONAL TEAM

BOYS’ UNDER-15 AND UNDER-18 NATIONAL TEAM

AFC Under-16
Championship 2020
Qualifier
Singapore hosted the Group I matches of the AFC
U16 Championship 2020 Qualifier, which was
held from 18 to 22 September 2019 at the Jalan
Besar Stadium.
Philippe Aw’s national U15 team took on DPR
Korea, Hong Kong and Guam, recording one win
and two losses.

AFF Under-18 Football
Tournament 2019
The AFF U18 Football Tournament 2019 was held
from 6 to 19 August in Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam.
Singapore was drawn in Group B alongside
Vietnam, Thailand and defending champions
Malaysia.

AFC UNDER-19 CHAMPIONSHIP
2020 QUALIFIER
6 NOV 2019

The 23-strong squad, led by Fadzuhasny Juraimi,
did not have the best of tournaments, finishing
last out of six teams in Group B.

KOREA REPUBLIC

SINGAPORE

AFC UNDER-16 CHAMPIONSHIP
2020 QUALIFIER

MYANMAR

2

VS

1

1

VS

6

SINGAPORE

1

VS

VS

1

SINGAPORE

0

VS

3

VIETNAM

13 AUG 2019
DPR KOREA

CAMBODIA

21 SEP 2019
GUAM

3

0

VS

1

SINGAPORE

15 AUG 2019

10

SINGAPORE

SINGAPORE

0

VS

5

SINGAPORE

0

VS

2

CHINA PR

8

VS

0

SINGAPORE

SINGAPORE

11 AUG 2019
SINGAPORE

19 SEP 2019
SINGAPORE

1

9 AUG 2019
MALAYSIA

17 SEP 2019
HONG KONG

VS

0

10 NOV 2019

7 AUG 2019

1

VS

8 NOV 2019

AFF UNDER-18 FOOTBALL
TOURNAMENT 2019
THAILAND

11

AUSTRALIA

AFC Under-19
Championship 2020
Qualifier
The AFC U19 Championship 2020 Qualifier was
held from 6 to 10 November 2019 in Yangon,
Myanmar. Singapore was drawn in Group I
alongside 12-time champions Korea Republic,
China PR and Myanmar. It was a humbling

experience for the team as they suffered three
straight defeats that illustrated the amount of
work that needs to be done to close the gap
with their opponents.
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NATIONAL TEAMS

NATIONAL TEAMS

WOMEN’S ‘A’ TEAM

GIRLS’ UNDER-16 NATIONAL TEAM

Arafura Games 2019

AFF Under-15 Girls’
Championship 2019

The Lionesses won the silver medal at the Arafura
Games 2019, which took place from 28 April to 3
May 2019 in Darwin, Australia.

AFF Women’s
Championship 2019

Three wins and one draw were registered in
the six games at the international multi-sport
tournament.

With a youthful squad selected for the campaign,
Singapore participated in the AFF Women’s
Championship 2019 in Chonburi, Thailand where
they were grouped with regional powerhouses
Philippines and host Thailand, as well as with
Malaysia and Timor Leste.

ARAFURA GAMES 2019
29 APR 2019
SINGAPORE

8

VS

0

TIMORESE FUGEES

30 APR 2019
SINGAPORE

7

VS

0

1

VS

International Friendlies

2

DARWIN
INVITATIONAL

2 MAY 2019
SINGAPORE

0

VS

0

KOALAS

3 MAY 2019
SINGAPORE

1

VS

0

DARWIN
INVITATIONAL

3 MAY 2019
SINGAPORE

0

VS

3

The 20-strong squad, led by Tina Afrida, finished
fourth out of five teams in Group B, with their sole
victory coming against Cambodia in the opener
thanks to a last-minute strike by Danelle Tan.

AFF UNDER-15 GIRLS’
CHAMPIONSHIP 2019

NT YAPAS

1 MAY 2019
SINGAPORE

The Girls’ Under-15 National Team will look to
improve on their performances at the AFF U-15
Girls’ Championship 2019, which took place
from 9 to 21 May 2019 in Chonburi, Thailand.

As part of preparations for the AFF Women’s
Championship 2019, Singapore played three
away friendlies – two (against Vanuatu and Fiji)
in Vanuatu and one in Myanmar – which ended
in defeats. Later in the year, the Lionesses
hosted two closed-door training games against
neighbours Malaysia.

KOALAS

While the Lionesses lost all four group matches,
the international exposure will stand the relatively
young squad – only 11 of the 23 had more than 10
caps and eight were aged 20 or below – in good
stead for future matches.
History was made by Danelle Tan, whose debut
goal made her the youngest ever player to score
for Singapore at international level at 14 years and
294 days. The debutant netted a late penalty in
the Lionesses’ 2-1 loss to Timor-Leste in the AFF
Women’s Championship 2019 opener.

9 MAY 2019

1

CAMBODIA

SINGAPORE

0

2

VS

0

SINGAPORE

LAOS

7

SINGAPORE

1

VS

3

FIJI

TIMOR LESTE

2

VS

1

SINGAPORE

0

SINGAPORE

17 AUG 2019
13 JUL 2019
MYANMAR

5

VS

0

SINGAPORE
SINGAPORE

2

VS

2

MALAYSIA

MALAYSIA

1

VS

4

8

THAILAND

4

VS

0

SINGAPORE

21 AUG 2019

22 NOV 2019
SINGAPORE

VS

19 AUG 2019

21 NOV 2019
SINGAPORE

0

MALAYSIA

SINGAPORE

0

VS

4

VS

5

THAILAND

VS

0

SINGAPORE

17 MAY 2019

15 AUG 2019

6 JUN 2019

SINGAPORE

13 MAY 2019

AFF WOMEN’S
CHAMPIONSHIP 2019

3 JUN 2019

2

11 MAY 2019

INTERNATIONAL FRIENDLIES
VANUATU

VS

PHILIPPINES
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41

VS

1

MALAYSIA

COMPETITIONS

COMPETITIONS

CHAMPIONS

BRUNEI DPMM FC

AIA Community
Shield 2019

CLUB

P

W

D

L

GF

GA

GD

PTS

BRUNEI DPMM FC

24

15

5

4

51

25

26

50

TAMPINES ROVERS FC

24

12

8

4

52

29

23

44

HOUGANG UNITED FC

24

13

4

7

58

45

13

43

ALBIREX NIIGATA (S) FC

24

12

5

7

36

25

11

41

GEYLANG INTERNATIONAL FC

24

10

3

11

41

48

-7

33

HOME UNITED FC

24

9

3

12

34

46

-12

30

WARRIORS FC

24

6

5

13

40

56

-16

23

YOUNG LIONS

24

6

4

14

21

38

-17

22

BALESTIER KHALSA FC

24

4

5

15

37

58

-21

17

FINAL SCORE
23 FEB 2019
ALBIREX NIIGATA (S) FC

0

VS

0

HOME UNITED FC

HOME UNITED FC WON 5-4 ON PENALTIES

CHAMPIONS

HOME UNITED FC
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SPL STATISTICS
LIVE VIEWERSHIP
NUMBER OF MATCHES
SHOWN LIVE

108

MATCHES

TOTAL
VIEWERSHIP

TOTAL NUMBER
OF MATCHES

1.6M

TEAM WITH LONGEST
WINNING STREAK

108

VIEWERSHIP

4

MATCHES

MATCHES
ALBIREX NIIGATA (S) FC

HIGHEST ‘LIVE’
VIEWERSHIP

TOTAL MINUTES OF
PLAY FOR U23 PLAYERS

HIGHEST
SCORING MATCH

ALBIREX NIIGATA (S) FC
VS HOME UNITED FC

MINUTES

BALESTIER KHALSA FC
VS BRUNEI DPMM FC
13 APRIL 2019

93,456

72,318

1-7

TOTAL NUMBER
OF CARDS

399

TOTAL NUMBER OF
YELLOW CARDS

TOTAL NUMBER OF
DIRECT RED CARDS
TOTAL NUMBER OF
INDIRECT RED CARDS

RECEIVED SECOND
YELLOW CARD

YELLOW CARDS

RED CARDS

CARDS

66

12

12

21

SCORED BETWEEN

NUMBER OF
GOALS SCORED

69

TEAM WITH MOST
GOALS SCORED
GEYLANG INTERNATIONAL FC

13

CLEAN SHEETS

HAT-TRICKS

26

3.43

80 MINS TO 90 MINS

37

TEAM WITH MOST
GOALS SCORED
HOUGANG UNITED FC

PENALTIES

AVERAGE
NUMBER OF
GOALS SCORED

208

NUMBER OF
GOALS SCORED

26

TEAM WITH MOST
GOALS SCORED
BRUNEI DPMM FC

TOP GOAL SCORER

ANDREI VARANKOU
-BRUNEI DPMM FC

2ND HALF

162

NUMBER OF
GOALS SCORED

TEAM WITH MOST NUMBER
OF PENALTY GOALS
HOUGANG UNITED FC

TEAM WITH MOST NUMBER
OF YELLOW CARDS

TOTAL NUMBER OF
HAT-TRICKS

4

TOTAL NUMBER OF
CLEAN SHEETS

23

7

TEAM WITH MOST NUMBER
OF HAT-TRICKS
BRUNEI DPMM FC

2

TEAM WITH MOST NUMBER
OF CLEAN SHEETS
BRUNEI DPMM FC

10

4

PLAYER WITH
MOST NUMBER OF
HAT-TRICKS
ANDREI VARANKOU - BRUNEI DPMM FC

2

PLAYER WITH
MOST NUMBER OF
CLEAN SHEETS
WARDUN YUSSOF - BRUNEI DPMM FC

PLAYER WITH
MOST NUMBER OF
PENALTY GOALS
ANDREI VARANKOU - BRUNEI DPMM FC
FARIS RAMLI - HOUGANG UNITED FC
JORDAN WEBB - TAMPINES ROVERS FC

TOTAL OWN GOALS

10

6

BALESTIER KHALSA FC

PLAYER WITH MOST NUMBER
OF YELLOW CARDS

TEAM WITH MOST NUMBER
OF RED CARDS

PLAYER WITH MOST NUMBER
OF RED CARDS

YELLOW CARDS

RED CARDS

RED CARDS

NURULLAH HUSSEIN BALESTIER KHALSA FC

BRUNEI DPMM FC

YURA INDERA PUTERA - BRUNEI DPMM FC
YASIR HANAPI - TAMPINES ROVERS FC
HAIQAL PASHIA - YOUNG LIONS

11

6

2

BREAKDOWN
OF FOREIGN
PLAYERS
TOTAL: 22

AUSTRALIA

JAPAN

4

4

CROATIA

FRANCE

SOUTH KOREA

2

2

3

TOTAL PLAYERS

TOTAL U23
(LOCAL)

TOTAL FOREIGN
PLAYERS

TOTAL U23
(FOREIGN)

AUSTRIA

BULGARIA

CANADA

NETHERLANDS

NEW ZEALAND

UNITED KINGDOM

SERBIA

ALBIREX

24

5

-

-

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

BALESTIER

26

10

3

2

DPMM

25

-

3

-

GEYLANG

22

7

4

2

HOME

25

8

3

1

HOUGANG

28

10

3

2

TAMPINES

25

11

3

1

WARRIORS

30

10

3

1

YOUNG LIONS

36

36

-

-

TOTAL

241

97

22

9

TEAMS

SPL
PLAYERS
NUMBERS

12

370

1ST HALF

TOTAL GOALS FROM
PENALTIES

423

FOULS

TOTAL GOALS
SCORED

MATCH STATISTICS

MATCH

MINUTES

BY AGE

BELOW 23

AGE 23-25

AGE 26-30

ABOVE 30

TOTAL

NO. OF PLAYERS
WHO MADE AN
APPEARANCE

100

45

57

27

229

TOTAL MINUTES
PLAYED

73,218

38,181

75,746

33,302

219,547

PERCENTAGE OF
TOTAL MINUTES

32.94%

17.39%

34.50%

15.174%

100.00%
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COMPETITIONS
AFC CHAMPIONS LEAGUE
5 FEB 2019

1

HOME UNITED FC

AFC Cup 2019

Both teams were unsuccessful in their bid to
qualify to the knockout stages, with only the
group winners and one best second-placed team
advancing. Home finished second in Group H,
while Tampines were left to rue what could have
been as they lost out on goal difference in both
Group F and the ranking of the best second-placed
teams.

Team

PERSIJA JAKARTA

MATCHDAY 1

Pld

W

D

L

GF GA

GD

Pts

1

Hanoi FC

6

4

1

1

23

5

+18

13

2

Tampines
Rovers FC

6

4

1

1

17

10

+7

13

3

Yangon
United FC

6

2

0

4

10

14

−4

6

4

Nagaworld
FC

6

1

0

5

6

27

−21

3

1

HOME UNITED FC

VS

1

PSM MAKASSAR

MATCHDAY 2
KAYA FC

5

VS

0

HOME UNITED FC

MATCHDAY 3

1

HOME UNITED FC

VS

0

LAO TOYOTA FC

MATCHDAY 4
LAO TOYOTA FC

2

VS

3

HOME UNITED FC

MATCHDAY 5
PSM MAKASSAR

3

VS

2

HOME UNITED FC

MATCHDAY 6
HOME UNITED FC

GROUP F
Pos

FINAL SCORE

3

AFC CUP : HOME UNITED FC

Home United FC (HUFC) and Tampines Rovers FC
(TRFC) represented Singapore in the 2019 Asian
Football Confederation (AFC) Cup, with the former
participating in this competition after its elimination
from the 2019 AFC Champions League qualifying
play-offs and the latter as the second highestplaced local team from the 2018 SPL season.

Komoco Motors
Singapore Cup 2019

VS

2

VS

0

KAYA FC

AFC CUP : TAMPINES ROVERS FC

23 FEB 2019
TAMPINES ROVERS FC

4

IRWAN SHAH (’13)
JOEL CHEW (’31)
AMIRUL ADLI (’57)
ZEHRUDIN MEHMEDOVIC (’66)

VS

3

WARRIORS FC

KHAIRUL NIZAM (’13 , ’20)
FAIROZ HASAN (’85)

MATCHDAY 1

1

YANGON UNITED FC

VS

3

TAMPINES ROVERS FC

MATCHDAY 2

1

TAMPINES ROVERS FC

VS

1

HANOI FC

MATCHDAY 3

GROUP H
Pos

Team

1

PSM
Makassar FC

6

4

2

0

17

2

Home
United FC

6

3

1

2

9

3

Kaya FC

4

Lao
Toyota FC

1

NAGAWORLD FC

Pld

W

D

L

GF GA

GD

Pts

8

+9

14

11

−2

10

2

2

2

13

7

+6

4

TAMPINES ROVERS FC

VS

2

NAGAWORLD FC

MATCHDAY 5

4

VS

3

YANGON UNITED FC

8

CHAMPIONS

TAMPINES ROVERS FC

5

MATCHDAY 4
TAMPINES ROVERS FC

TAMPINES ROVERS FC

6

VS

MATCHDAY 6

6

0

1

5

7

20

−13

HANOI FC

1

2
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VS

0

TAMPINES ROVERS FC

COMPETITIONS

FAS Island Wide League 2019
On 17 August 2019, the FAS Island Wide League 2019
Grand Final was played between Commonwealth
Cosmos FC and Geylang Serai FC at the Jalan

FAS National Football
League Division 1 2019

Besar Stadium. Attended by about 1,500 fans, the
former emerged as the Champion and obtained
promotion to the NFL Division 2.

FINAL SCORE
TOP SCORER

Zamri Kamal - Warwick Knights FC

CHAMPIONS

18 GOALS

TIONG BAHRU FC

CHAMPIONS

1

COMMONWEALTH
COSMOS FC

COMMONWEALTH COSMOS FC

VS

0

GEYLANG SERAI FC

SHAIFUL ESAH (’7)

PROMOTED TO NFL DIVISION 2 IN 2020

TEAMS RELEGATED TO DIVISION 2 : POLICE SA, BALESTIER UNITED RC, EUNOS CRESCENT FC

FAS National Football League Division 2 2019

FAS Football Association Cup 2019

FINAL SCORE
TOP SCORER

Zul Feshal - Project Vaults Oxley SC

CHAMPIONS

14 GOALS

PROJECT VAULTS OXLEY SC

YISHUN SENTEK
MARINERS FC

CHAMPIONS

TIONG BAHRU FC

FAROUQ FARKHAN (’67)

TEAMS PROMOTED TO DIVISION 1 : PROJECT VAULTS OXLEY SC, SIGLAP FC
TEAMS RELEGATED TO ISLAND-WIDE LEAGUE : ADMIRALTY FC, KAKI BUKIT SC, GFA VICTORIA FC
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1

VS

2

TIONG BAHRU FC

NURHILMI JASNI (’40)
SYUKRI NOORHAIZAM (’45)

FAS Women’s Challenge Cup 2019

COMPETITIONS

FAS Women’s
Premier
League 2019

FINAL SCORE

TOP SCORER
CHAMPIONS

WARRIORS FC

1

TANJONG PAGAR
UNITED FC

CHAMPIONS

TANJONG PAGAR UNITED FC

STILL AERION FC

YUKI MONDEN (’56)

22 GOALS
FAS CENTRE OF EXCELLENCE
UNDER-18 LEAGUE 2019

FAS CENTRE OF EXCELLENCE
UNDER-15 LEAGUE 2019

CHAMPION

CHAMPION

TAMPINES ROVERS FC

SINGAPORE SPORTS SCHOOL

1ST RUNNER-UP

1ST RUNNER-UP

HOME UNITED FC

MERIDIAN SECONDARY SCHOOL

2ND RUNNER-UP

2ND RUNNER-UP

HOUGANG UNITED FC

HOME UNITED FC

TOP SCORER

TOP SCORERS

ANAQI ISMIT (HOME UNITED FC)

ABDUL RAUF (MERIDIAN SECONDARY SCHOOL)
ARSYAD BASIRON (JURONGVILLE SECONDARY SCHOOL)
ZAKARIA SYARI (TAMPINES ROVERS FC)

10 GOALS

13 GOALS

FAS CENTRE OF EXCELLENCE
UNDER-18 CHALLENGE CUP 2019
13 OCT 2019

TANJONG PAGAR
UNITED FC

0

Mariam El-Masri - Warriors FC

FAS Women’s
National
League 2019

CHAMPIONS

VS

TOP SCORER

Danelle Tan - Still Aerion FC

16 GOALS

HOME UNITED FC

DOSS MARK ALISTON (’68)

1

VS

1

HOUGANG UNITED FC

HAIRI SUFI (’19)

HOME UNITED FC WON 4-2 ON PENALTIES
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COMPETITIONS

FAS Nite 2019
FAS RECOGNITION
AWARDS
SANDRASEGRAN (SPORTSG)

EDWARD SILAS (FAS MATCH COMMISSIONER)

FOR CONTRIBUTION TO SINGAPORE’S PILLARS OF FOOTBALL,
EFFICIENT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

WOMEN’S NATIONAL LEAGUE

WOMEN’S PREMIER LEAGUE

DANELLE TAN - STILL AERION FC

MARIAM EL-MASRI - WARRIORS FC

TOP SCORER

TOP SCORER

SAMAWARI BASRI - TANJONG PAGAR UNITED FC

AZRULNIZAM SHAH - HOME UNITED FC

COACH OF THE YEAR

COACH OF THE YEAR

NUR RAUDHAH KAMIS - TIONG BAHRU FC

NUR UMAIRAH HAMDAN - TAMPINES CHANGKAT FC

YOUNG PLAYER OF THE YEAR

YOUNG PLAYER OF THE YEAR

NURJANNAH JAMALLUDIN - REPUBLIC FC

NUR EMILIA NATASHA - POLICE SA

PLAYER OF THE YEAR

PLAYER OF THE YEAR

ROYAL ARION WFC

WARRIORS FC

FAIR PLAY AWARD

FAIR PLAY AWARD

NFL DIVISION TWO

NFL DIVISION ONE

ZUL FESHAL - PROJECT VAULTS OXLEY SC

ZAMRI KAMAL - WARWICK KNIGHTS FC

TOP SCORER

TOP SCORER

ASHRAF ARIFFIN - SIGLAP FC

ROBERT EZIAKOR - TIONG BAHRU FC

COACH OF THE YEAR

COACH OF THE YEAR

SADIK SAID - JUNGFRAU PUNGGOL FC

DANISH UWAIS - TIONG BAHRU FC

YOUNG PLAYER OF THE YEAR

YOUNG PLAYER OF THE YEAR

JONATHAN XU - PROJECT VAULTS OXLEY SC

LIAM SHOTTON - TIONG BAHRU FC

PLAYER OF THE YEAR

PLAYER OF THE YEAR

SINGAPORE CRICKET CLUB

KATONG FC

FAIR PLAY AWARD

FAIR PLAY AWARD

COE UNDER-15 LEAGUE

FOR CONTRIBUTION TO SINGAPORE’S PILLARS OF FOOTBALL,
CAPABILITY DEVELOPMENT

YEONG SHEAU SHYAN (COACH)

ABDUL KARIM BIN IBRAMSAH (FAS VOLUNTEER)

FOR CONTRIBUTION TO SINGAPORE’S PILLARS OF FOOTBALL,
YOUTH DEVELOPMENT

FOR CONTRIBUTION TO SINGAPORE’S PILLARS OF FOOTBALL,
EFFICIENT RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

BERNARD LAN (SPL, HOME UNITED FC)

CIKGU SIES SENAN

FOR CONTRIBUTION TO SINGAPORE’S PILLARS OF FOOTBALL,
YOUTH DEVELOPMENT

ABDUL RAUF - MERIDIAN SECONDARY SCHOOL
ARSYAD BASIRON - JURONGVILLE SECONDARY SCHOOL
ZAKARIA SYARI - TAMPINES ROVERS FC
TOP SCORERS

FOR CONTRIBUTION TO SINGAPORE’S PILLARS OF FOOTBALL,
YOUTH DEVELOPMENT

MOHAMMAD MARDANI (NFL, EUNOS CRESCENT FC)

RICHARD WOON (TANJONG PAGAR UNITED FC)

FOR CONTRIBUTION TO SINGAPORE’S PILLARS OF FOOTBALL,
CAPABILITY DEVELOPMENT

COE UNDER-18 LEAGUE

FOR CONTRIBUTION TO SINGAPORE’S PILLARS OF FOOTBALL,
CAPABILITY DEVELOPMENT

KHAIRUL AMRI
(SINGAPORE NATIONAL TEAM, 132 CAPS & 32 GOALS)

THIYAGA RAJU ARUMUGAM
FOR CONTRIBUTION TO SINGAPORE’S PILLARS OF FOOTBALL,
VIBRANT FOOTBALL CULTURE

FOR CONTRIBUTION TO SINGAPORE’S PILLARS OF FOOTBALL,
CAPABILITY DEVELOPMENT

ANAQI ISMIT - HOME UNITED FC
TOP SCORER
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COMPETITIONS

SPL TEAM OF THE YEAR 2019

BRUNEI DPMM FC

WARDUN YUSOFF

BRUNEI DPMM FC

CHARLIE CLOUGH

ALBIREX NIIGATA (S) FC

KAISHU YAMAZAKI

TAMPINES ROVERS FC

HOUGANG UNITED FC

IRWAN SHAH

NAZRUL NAZARI

SINGAPORE
PREMIER LEAGUE
BRUNEI DPMM FC

MATTHEW MOHAN - CHANNEL NEWSASIA DIGITAL

ANDREI VARANKOU - BRUNEI DPMM FC

STORY OF THE YEAR

BLAKE RICCIUTO

ALBIREX NIIGATA (S) FC

TAMPINES ROVERS FC

KYOGA NAKAMURA

SHAHDAN SULAIMAN

BRUNEI DPMM FC

HOUGANG UNITED FC

AIA TOP SCORER

BARRY MAGUIRE

CHUA BOON PING - JUNPITER FUTBOL

(YOUNG LIONS VS GEYLANG INTERNATIONAL FC, 30 AUGUST 2019)

PHOTO OF THE YEAR

MITRE GOAL OF THE YEAR

ONG CHAI LEE

HAMI SYAHIN - HOME UNITED FC

WARRIX ASSISTANT REFEREE OF THE YEAR

KOMOCO MOTORS YOUNG PLAYER OF THE YEAR

FARHAD BIN MOHAMED

ADRIAN PENNOCK - BRUNEI DPMM FC

WARRIX REFEREE OF THE YEAR

SINGAPORE POOLS COACH OF THE YEAR

ALBIREX NIIGATA (S) FC

FARIS RAMLI - HOUGANG UNITED FC

POLAR FAIR PLAY AWARD

AIA PLAYER OF THE YEAR

GEYL ANG INTERNATIONAL FC

SHAWAL ANUAR

ANDREI VARANKOU
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FARIS RAMLI

TECHNICAL

TECHNICAL

Football Development
Football Development encompasses two key areas
– Capability Development and Youth Development
– to raise the standards of local football through
various programmes.
Coach Education and Development
As part of overall football development efforts,
the Coach Education and Development (CED)
department conducted 15 courses over the past
year to raise the quality and increase the number
of qualified coaches in Singapore’s football
ecosystem.
All coaching courses, which are aligned with the
FAS’ Football Philosophy, were developed by the
CED department to provide football coaches with
the latest coaching knowledge and resources for
the nurturing of players, teams and the game at all
levels.
Three courses were organised for the first time,
namely the FIFA Grassroots Coach Developer’s
Course, FIFA Coach Developer’s Course and
Asian Football Confederation (AFC) Level 1 Futsal
Coaching Course. Conducted by FIFA and AFC
instructors, the courses saw participation from
former and current national players, players from
the Singapore Premier League (SPL) and amateur
clubs, academy and grassroots coaches as well as
educators.

Appointment of Head
of Elite Youth
In continuance of his work with youth
development at FAS, Singapore football legend
Fandi Ahmad was appointed as Head of Elite
Youth with effect from 1 January 2020.

The FAS also collaborated with the ActiveSG
Football Academy (AFA) to organise the FAS-AFA
Grassroots Level 1 Coaching Course. Tailor-made
to meet the needs of parent volunteers and
members of the public, this was aimed at increasing
the availability of competent volunteer coaches to
support the growing number of grassroots football
programmes.

Courses
FAS Grassroots
Coaching Courses
AFC ‘C’ Coaching
Certificate Course
AFC ‘B’ Coaching
Certificate Course
AFC Fitness Coaching
Certificate Level 1A
AFC Fitness Coaching
Certificate Level 1B
AFC Goalkeeping
Coaching Certificate
Course
AFC Level 1 Futsal
Coaching Course
FAS Introductory
Course

The former Lions star, who was Head Coach
of both the Young Lions and Men’s Under-22
National Team in 2019, will work closely with
Technical Director Joseph Palatsides to enhance
the pathways and structure for the development
of youth players in the National Teams and
National Age-Group Teams. This includes player
scouting and tracking, mentorship programmes
as well as specialised training sessions for players
in the various National Teams.
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Conducted in FY20
7
3
1
1
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1
1
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TECHNICAL
PHOTO CREDIT: KEDAH FA

Coaches Overseas:
Aidil Sharin
For the first time since 2015, a Singaporean coach
lifted the Malaysia FA Cup as Aidil Sharin led Kedah
FA to glory in 2019.
The former Singapore international clinched the
club’s fifth title as they drew level with Selangor FA
as the most successful club in the tournament’s
history, barely a year after taking charge of the
team in October 2018.

Prior to his appointment at Kedah, Aidil led Home
United FC (now known as Lion City Sailors FC) to
the ASEAN zonal title in the 2018 AFC Cup.

Under his stewardship, Kedah finished fourth
in the 2019 Malaysia Super League season, an
improvement from their sixth-place finish in 2018.

Fandi Ahmad was the last Singaporean coach
to lift the trophy in 2015, when he led the nowdefunct LionsXII to victory.

Under-15 International Challenge Cup
With the aim of increasing the competitiveness
and exposure of our youth players, the fourth
edition of the Under-15 International Challenge
Cup was organised to provide a platform for top
youth teams in the region to compete against
one another.

as Indonesia’s Garuda Unity FC.

The 2019 edition saw an increase in the number
of participating teams from six to eight, including
first-time involvement from Australia’s Melbourne
City College of Football and Perth United, as well

Johor Darul Ta’zim claimed their first ever title after
upsetting defending champions Promotion Fund
of Vietnamese Football Talents, who had won all
three previous editions.

The tournament also proved to be a valuable
platform to raise the profile of youth football in the
region, as the semi-finals and final received strong
viewership of over 20,000 through live streaming.

Goalkeeping Development
Goalkeeping Academy Singapore
A 40-week programme, targeted at goalkeepers
aged seven to 16, was conducted by the
Goalkeeping Academy Singapore (GAS) to
educate young goalkeepers on the technical,
tactical and physical requirements of goalkeeping.
Participating goalkeepers were divided into three
groups – Elite, Development and Academy –
based on their skill level.
EV

ELOPME

9

ADEMY
AC

N

T

9

D

E L I TE

19

Goalkeeper Training for Next Generation
International Representation
As part of efforts to further develop the next
generation of goalkeepers for the National Teams,
the Goalkeeping Department organised several
centralised training sessions with goalkeepers
from the clubs. Goalkeeping coaches were also
invited to join in the sessions to learn more about
training methodologies and best practices.
Goalkeepers who were called up are as follows:
Name

Club

Ridhwan Fikri Bin Aban Young Lions
Since the GAS was launched in 2016, several
goalkeepers have proceeded to represent
Singapore in the National Age Group Teams while
others have continued their development with
clubs. Despite moving on, these goalkeepers
continue to be closely monitored during the
Centre of Excellence tournaments and the
Under-14 Developmental League.

Nurshafiq Bin Zaini

Young Lions

Putra Anugerah Bin
Shahrin

Young Lions

Veer Karan Sobti

Young Lions

Martyn Mun

Balestier Khalsa FC

Dylan Pereira Singh

Geylang
International FC

Scouting for Talented Under-14 And
Under-17 Players
In a departure from its usual talent-scouting
methods, the FAS took the unprecedented step of
holding public trials for Under-14 players to size up
potential national youth players.

Potential players who have been identified will be
tracked through a database that the FAS is currently
in the process of setting up.

The open trials were aimed at providing all talented
young players, especially those who may not
have been involved with clubs or academies, an
opportunity to be discovered and developed.
The trials, which took place across three dates in
December at Jalan Besar Stadium, saw participation
from 300 boys. Previously, invitations to trials for
FAS teams and clubs were sent directly to all 139
secondary schools in Singapore.
The FAS also scouted U17 players from across
83 schools during the National School Games
Football ‘B’ Division Boys 2019 tournament from
February to May as part of efforts to widen our
pool of youth players.

CIPAN
RTI
TS
PA

1,900
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TECHNICAL

FAS Girl Cubs Centres
The FAS launched a new Girl Cubs centre at
Meridian Secondary School in August 2019 to cater
to the increasing interest in girls’ football. As with
the two existing centres at Bowen and Queensway
Secondary Schools, weekly programmes are
conducted for young girls between the age of five
and 12 for them to learn the sport and develop
their skills.
Since the opening of a third centre, there has been
an increase in the participation rate from 40 girls in
2019 to 85 girls as of January 2020.

AFC Women’s Football
Day – “Live” Women’s
Football Forum

The centres also serve as a talent-scouting
platform and 13 girls from the programme have
been identified to join the Under-12 Development
Squad for additional training in a more competitive
environment.

FAS U12 Girls’ Football
Festival 2019
More than 40 teams from primary schools, private
academies and FAS’ Girl Cubs centres gathered at
Serangoon Stadium on 7 November 2019 to play
small-sided games at the annual festival organised
by the FAS.
For the first time since the conception of the event
in 2016, the Ministry of Education (MOE) included
the festival as part of the schools’ sports calendar
to encourage more participation amongst teams
in the U8, U10 and U12 categories. As such,
participation numbers in the festival rose from 430
in 2018 to 550 in 2019.

In celebration of AFC Women’s Football Day,
the FAS held a women’s football forum to show
appreciation for the contributions of local women
in raising the sport’s profile here.
Titled “In Celebration of Women’s Football – Inspiring
Other Women Through Their Individual Journeys”,
the forum was hosted by sports anchor Ms Mandira
Sawhney Lalvani, while the panel featured eight
individuals who shared their involvement in the
sport at the elite and grassroots level.
1. Ms Kelly Latimer – Host and Vocal Talent
2. Ms Vivienne Lim – Chairperson, Board of
Management of the Convent of Holy Infant
Jesus (CHIJ) Schools
3. Ms Jenny Tan – Parent
4. Ms Shahidah Mokhtar – Parent
5. Ms Yeong Sheau Shyan – Highest qualified
female coach in Singapore
6. Ms Beatrice Tan – Women’s National Team
Player
7. Ms Izyani Ghani – Former Lionesses Captain
8. Ms Angeline Chua – Former Lioness and
most-capped player at time of retirement

FAS Girls’ Assistance
Programme (GAP)
With the aim of increasing participation in girls’
football, the FAS launched the FAS Girls’ (Football)
Assistance Programme (GAP) in July 2019 to reach
out to primary schools in Singapore.

The event was live streamed to almost 9,000
viewers via Facebook in an effort to increase the
reach, awareness and participation in women’s
football within the community.

8.9K VIEWERS

Under the programme, the FAS assists schools in
setting up girls’ football teams and interest groups
by equipping them with the necessary coaching
resources. Football clinics and talks are also
conducted to complement the schools’ social and
enrichment programmes and increase awareness
and participation in the sport.

In 2019, the FAS conducted several football clinics
and try-out stations for 240 girls from CHIJ (Our
Lady of Good Counsel), which were very well
received. Subsequently, a second run in January
2020 saw almost 300 girls participate.
In an effort to develop more female referees, a
FAS Junior Girls’ Referee Programme was also
organised in October 2019, where participants
were given the opportunity to referee at junior
girls’ games and festivals.
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AFC Fitness Level 1A and 1B Coaching
Certificate Courses
As part of our coach education strategy, the
FAS aims to grow a pool of fitness coaches with
football-specific competencies.
Due to the pace of the game having changed
tremendously in recent year, it is imperative
that our players are able to keep pace with our
neighbours, as well as on the international stage,
in terms of physical development in order to
stay competitive. Having such qualified fitness
coaches in our clubs and National Teams will also
enable them to adopt a more holistic approach in

terms of game preparation.
In partnership with the AFC, both the Fitness
Level 1A and 1B Coaching Certificate Courses
were conducted by AFC/FIFA Fitness Instructor
Dr Pradip Dutta. Level 1A covered various
training techniques and methods to improve
physical fitness and strength on the pitch by
understanding the scientific basis of planning
training sessions, while Level 1B addressed
topics regarding the strength, power and speed
transfer in football.

FIFA Football Medicine Course & FIFA Football
Emergency for Referees
The FAS hosted a football medicine course
conducted by instructors from the FIFA Medical
and Anti-Doping Department for medical
representatives and referees from 28 to 30
June 2019.
Aimed at providing the latest football-related
medical updates, topics included best practices
for injury prevention and treatments, stadium
and tournament medical requirements as well

as anti-doping. Another key area covered was
emergency procedures in football medicine,
such as identifying, managing and treating
sudden cardiac arrest.
Practical sessions were also held during the
three-day course to teach participants about
clinical examination and injury assessment
techniques.

FIFA Fitness Coaching
Workshop
To further develop the capabilities of existing
fitness coaches, the FAS organised the FIFA
Fitness Coaching Workshop in December 2019.
Attended by 27 participants, the week-long
course was facilitated by FIFA Fitness Instructor
Pierre Boachard, who presented the latest
developments in fitness coaching.

FIFA 11+ Workshop for
MOE Teachers
In partnership with the MOE Physical, Sports
& Outdoor Education Branch (PSOEB), a pilot
programme known as the FIFA 11+ Workshop was
introduced to educate teachers involved in their
respective schools’ football co-curricular activity
(CCA) on injury prevention methods.
The programme, which was specifically designed
to cater to school teachers, aims to reduce
the injury risks that young footballers face by
increasing awareness of the means to identify
and avoid football injuries.

This took place from July to September 2019 in the
schools, comprising four primary schools (River
Valley, SJI Junior, Tampines North, Westwood)
and three secondary schools (Ang Mo Kio, Bartley,
Tanglin), as well as at MOE PSOEB.
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REFEREES

REFEREES
AFC REFEREES ACADEMY

FIFA / MEMBER ASSOCIATION REFEREES SEMINAR

Referees

AFC WOMEN’S CLUB CHAMPIONSHIP 2019

2019 FIFA Under-20 World Cup

Singapore was represented at the 2019 FIFA
Under-20 World Cup in Poland from 23 May to 15
June by FIFA Fitness Instructor M. Ganesan and
The annual FIFA / Member Association Referees
the refereeing trio of FIFA Referee Muhammad
Seminar was organised by the FAS and FIFA for 40
Taqi and FIFA Assistant Referees Ronnie Koh and
elite referees officiating in the SPL to enhance their
Abdul Hannan.
knowledge, skills and performance.
FIFA / Member Association Referees Seminar

Conducted by FIFA instructor Mr Valentin Ivanov
from 22 to 26 August 2019, the seminar covered
topics on the latest amendments and applications
of the Laws of the Game as well as fitness training.
Practical sessions and assessment were also
carried out to assess referees’ ability to manage
different in-game situations.
2019 FIFA UNDER-20 WORLD CUP

The biennial international men’s youth football
championship was Hannan’s debut appearance
at a FIFA tournament. Together, the three referees
took charge of two group games, one of which
was a 12-0 victory for Norway against Honduras,
where teenage striker Erling Haaland made
headlines for scoring nine times.
AFC Women’s Club Championship 2019

WOMEN’S CHALLENGE CUP FINAL 2019

refereeing and improve the quality of refereeing
standards in the region.

26 Nov 2019

28 Nov 2019

30 Nov 2019

Nippon TV
Beleza vs.
Jiangsu Suning

Incheon
Hyundai Steel
Red vs. Nippon
TV Beleza

Jiangsu Suning
vs. Incheon
Hyundai Steel
Red

Rohaidah Nasir
(Assistant
Referee 2)

Abirami Apbai
Naidu
(Referee)

Abirami Apbai
Naidu
(Referee)

Abirami Apbai
Naidu
(4th Official)

Rohaidah Nasir Rohaidah Nasir
(Assistant
(Assistant
Referee)
Referee)

The selection of Singapore’s female referees for
the tournament is a recognition of the referees’
individual abilities as well as the high refereeing
standards of Singapore match officials.

At the inaugural AFC Women’s Club Championship
held in South Korea in November 2019, FIFA
Referee Abirami Naidu and FIFA Assistant Referee
Rohaidah Nasir were appointed to officiate three
matches in the tournament.

AFC Referees Academy

The tournament was played in a round-robin
format. Both Abirami and Rohaidah were appointed
for 3 matches as follows

Launched in 2017, the academy seeks to nurture
promising referees with the tools, education
and resources to meet the demands of modern

FAS Class 1 referees Muhammad Zulfiqar and Lim
Liang Yi have successfully progressed to their
second year in the AFC Referee Academy.

Upon completion of the four-year programme,
participants shall be automatically inducted into
the AFC Elite Referees Panel and be given the
opportunity to officiate in premier level games
such as the AFC Champions League, AFC Cup as
well as FIFA World Cup Qualifiers.
Women’s Challenge Cup Final 2019
On 18 October 2019, a new chapter was written in
the local refereeing scene as Singapore’s first ever
all-women refereeing team took centre stage at
the National Stadium.
Abirami Naidu, Syifa Hannany, Siti Radiah and
Rohaidah Nasir left their mark in Singapore’s football
history as they officiated the Women’s Challenge
Cup final between Tanjong Pagar United FC and
Still Aerion FC.
With only five of the current pool of just over 200
referees in Singapore being female, the quartet
hope to inspire more women to take up refereeing
in future with this milestone.
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FOOTBALL FEATS

AFC Official Appointment
In recognition of his contributions over the past
four years, FAS President Mr Lim Kia Tong was
re-elected as Chairman of the AFC Disciplinary
and Ethics Committee at the AFC Extraordinary
Congress on 4 June 2019.
The Committee consists of nine Asian country
members who are tasked with making decisions
based on the AFC Disciplinary and Ethics
Code. Elected by AFC Member Associations,
committee members will serve for a period of
four years.
Three more members of the local footballing
fraternity were handed appointments in the AFC
Standing Committees for the term 2019 to 2023,
with effect from 15 August 2019. They are:

MR LIM KIA TONG

• FAS General Secretary Mr Yazeen Buhari
Member of the AFC Associations
Committee
• FAS Referees Committee Deputy Chairman
and FIFA Referee Instructor Mr John Chia
Member of AFC Referees Committee

MR YAZEEN BUHARI

MR JOHN CHIA

AFC ‘B’ Level
Membership

Lion City Sailors FC
Makes History As First
Privatised SPL Club
Lion City Sailors FC – formerly known as Home
United Football Club – made history by becoming
the first SPL club to be privatised in February
2020. The newly renamed club made its debut
in the 2020 season of the SPL, sporting a new kit
and logo as part of the revamp. Sea, Singapore’s
largest consumer internet company and parent of
Shopee, Garena, and SeaMoney, have assumed
100% ownership of the club. Forrest Li, the
founder, Chairman and Group CEO, of Sea, will
serve as Chairman of Lion City Sailors FC. Mr. Li has

MR RIZAL RASUDIN, PBM

• FAS Council Member Mr Rizal Rasudin, PBM
Member of the AFC Social Responsibility
Committee

also sat on the Football Association of Singapore
Council since 2017. The move to undertake
ownership of Lion City Sailors represents a natural
extension of Sea’s long-standing commitment to
the development of Singapore football, which
includes Garena’s sponsorship of the Young
Lions in 2016. The privatisation of Lion City
Sailors is an ideal opportunity to demonstrate
that a sustainable model for local football can
be achieved which would spur other corporate
partners to follow suit.

On 1 July 2019, the FAS was conferred the ‘B’
Level Membership under the Asian Football
Confederation (AFC) Coaching Convention. The
AFC regularly assesses the quality of coaching
courses from its Member Associations to grant
them the rights for conducting official courses
tailored to suit local needs.
The newly obtained Membership status ties in with
efforts to ramp up the capability development of
the FAS, who are now able to organise AFC ‘B’
Diploma courses and issue the corresponding
diplomas and licences. The ‘B’ Diploma Course

aims to develop coaches with the required
competencies to coach players aged 14 to 19 as
well as amateur players, making it a vital part of
youth development.
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GOLDEN GOALS
Collaboration with Club Rainbow Singapore
During the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ and
Asian Football Confederation (AFC) Asian Cup
2023 Preliminary Joint Qualification Round
2 campaign in September and October 2019,
the FAS collaborated with Club Rainbow
Singapore, an independent charity that
supports and empowers children with chronic
illnesses.
This collaboration aimed to provide the children
from Club Rainbow with memories for life as 22
of them had the opportunity to walk out onto the

pitch hand-in-hand with their national heroes,
while being cheered on by a large crowd.
In addition, these children had the privilege of
meeting with Singapore football legends Fandi
Ahmad and Noh Alam Shah in person.
This project spells the start of more meaningful
collaborations for future international matches
so that it can remain as a source of inspiration
for these children, whilst also upholding a vibrant
football culture in our nation.

Football With
A Heart 2019
The FAS has consistently geared its efforts towards
building a football culture that is both inclusive
and vibrant. One of its mainstay events to engage
stakeholders and fans is the annual Football With
A Heart (FWAH), Singapore’s largest executive
football charity fundraiser.

All proceeds raised will benefit nine designated
beneficiaries across various sectors, namely
Campus Impact, FAS Cares, Metta Welfare
Association, President’s Challenge 2019, RSVP
Singapore, SHINE Children & Youth Services,
Singapore Children’s Society, Society for the Aged
Sick and SportCares Foundation.

Held on 9 November 2019, the sixth edition
of FWAH saw more than 400 players from 39
corporate teams participating for a good cause.
Team Keppel eventually emerged as the winners,
beating Team Oracle Corporation 3-1.
Minister for Culture, Community and Youth,
Grace Fu, attended the event, which garnered
$950,000 in donations. This is a new record since
its inception in 2012 and exemplifies the spirit of
giving amongst the local footballing fraternity.
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GOLDEN GOALS
Community Shield
Opponents Stand in
Solidarity in Support of
the Courage Fund
The AIA Community Shield on 22 February 2020
was particularly special as it not only marked the
start of the new Singapore Premier League (SPL)
season, but also served as a platform to support
those affected by the ongoing COVID-19 situation
in Singapore.
Tampines Rovers FC and Hougang United FC,
the two teams facing off in the traditional curtainraiser to the season, each made a donation of
$5,000. Combined with a matching donation
from the FAS as well as the gate proceeds from
the match, a total of $25,000 was donated to
The Courage Fund, which is facilitated by the
Community Chest and National Council of Social
Service (NCSS) to help people affected by serious
infectious diseases.

FAS Seniors’ Walking Football 2019
In an effort to bring people of all ages closer
and promote community bonding through the
game in a safe environment, the FAS introduced
the FAS Seniors’ Walking Football in 2017 to
encourage the active participation of seniors in
football.

FAS Volunteers
Appreciation Night
Volunteers have always been a big part of the FAS
and are crucial to the success of all the events,
matches and tournaments that are organised.

Now into its third year, this event showcases
football, but with a twist - rules include walking
instead of running and no tackling is allowed,
to reduce the risks of injuries. Specially catered
to seniors above the age of 50, this community
bonding initiative aims to build rapport amongst
seniors who may not be physically equipped to

participate in the demanding scope of the usual
football game.
Facilitated by FAS-certified grassroots coaches,
simple football drills were also conducted for
the participants. More than 60 seniors from
Acacia Home, Moral Welfare Home and REACH
Community Services participated in the event,
leading to a healthy turnout that FAS will strive to
replicate in the future.

PARTICIPANTS : 150

To acknowledge the importance of our volunteers
and recognise their significant contributions, the
FAS hosted an appreciation dinner on 3 December
2019 for 120 supporting volunteers from the
Competitions, Marketing and Communications
Departments. They included event marshals,
security personnel, ball boys and girls as well
as media, logistics and event volunteers. Their
valuable contributions will go a long way towards
ensuring future successes as we strive towards
building an inclusive football community.

FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE | ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2020

FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE | ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2020

78

79

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Structure of the FAS

Governing
Instrument

The FAS is the national controlling body for
association football, futsal and beach football in
Singapore. It is an association officially registered
with the registrar of societies under the provisions
of the societies act.

The FAS was registered as a charity under the
Charities Act (Chapter 37) since 04/05/1961.
The FAS has Constitution as its governing
instrument.

The bodies of FAS consist of a legislative body,
an executive body, an administrative body and
the judicial bodies:

Unique Registration Number: S82SS0043B
Registered Address: 100 Tyrwhitt Road, Jalan
Besar Stadium, Singapore 207542
Auditor: Deloitte & Touche LLP
Bankers: DBS Bank Ltd.

• THE FAS CONGRESS IS THE SUPREME AND
LEGISLATIVE BODY FOR ASSOCIATION
FOOTBALL IN SINGAPORE
• THE COUNCIL AND THE EXECUTIVE
COMMITTEE ARE THE EXECUTIVE BODIES OF
THE FAS
• THE GENERAL SECRETARIAT IS
ADMINISTRATIVE BODY OF THE FAS

Related Entity
Name of entity:
Singapore Professional Football League Pte Ltd

THE

Relation:
1. Council Member and President of FAS is
Director and Shareholder of entity
2. Council Member and Deputy President of
FAS is Director and Shareholder of entity

• THE JUDICIAL BODIES ARE THE DISCIPLINARY
COMMITTEE, THE APPEALS COMMITTEE AND
THE ETHICS COMMITTEE
The Standing Committees and Ad-hoc
Committees of FAS shall advise and assist the
Executive Committee in fulfilling its duties.
The Chairperson of each Standing Committee
is a member of the Council. Members of the
Standing Committees are appointed on a fouryear term. The Standing Committees coordinate
their respective meetings in collaboration with
the General Secretary, and reports to the Council
based on their areas of functions.

Related Party
Name of party:
Komoco Holdings Pte Ltd
Relation:
Mr. Teo Hock Seng, Council Member and
Vice President of FAS is Director of Komoco
Holdings Pte Ltd

In the past year, the FAS continued to improve
and enhance internal governance within the
organisation and in the larger football fraternity
through imposing control measures and
centralising administrative procedures among
others.

Financial impact: Price Money for Komoco
Motors Singapore Cup of SGD 150,000 for
high performance sports and ICC Ticket
Sales to Komoco $11k.

Code of Conduct
The Code of Conduct conveys the responsibilities
of stakeholders for their compliance with a number
of laws and policies, placing these obligations
within the context of the FAS’ values with the
commitment to conduct its business with integrity.
All Council members, employees and players
under the purview of the FAS have to sign a Code
of Conduct Compliance Undertaking Form. The
Code of Conduct includes key ethical areas such
as data confidentiality, conduct of operations,
contractual relations, media relations, zero
tolerance policy and finance integrity. One such
finance integrity includes abstaining themselves
from placing bets on FAS and SPL football matches.

Whistle Blowing Policy
The Whistle Blowing Policy was developed to
provide an avenue for employees, volunteers
and external parties to raise concerns and offer
reassurance that they would be protected from
reprisals or victimisation for whistle blowing in
good faith. The policy is also intended to encourage
employees to raise concerns, in confidence, about
possible irregularities.
The objectives of the policy are to:
• DETER WRONGDOING AND TO PROMOTE
STANDARDS OF GOOD
CORPORATE
PRACTICES

Conflict of Interest
All Council members, employees and players
are required to submit a declaration of Conflict
of Interest upon joining the FAS and annually
thereafter. The policy requires Council members,
employees, and players to act in the interests of
the FAS and declare actual or potential conflicts of
interest to the Council at the earliest opportunity.
Council members do not vote or participate in
decision-making on matters where they have a
conflict of interest.
Similar stance have been made for the FAS’
procurement processes, whereby employees
and contracted vendors are required to declare
any known conflict of interest that exists in any
transactions. In addition, all approving officers are
also to declare any known conflict of interest that
exists in the purchasing transaction.
To reinforce the importance of professional
integrity, concerted efforts are made by the FAS
to constantly educate employees, players and
officials on the above policies through regular
engagement sessions.

• PROVIDE
PROPER
AVENUES
FOR
EMPLOYEES AND VOLUNTEERS TO RAISE
CONCERNS ABOUT ACTUAL OR SUSPECTED
IMPROPRIETIES, IN MATTERS OF FINANCIAL
REPORTING
OR OTHER MATTERS, AND
RECEIVE FEEDBACK ON ANY ACTION TAKEN
• GIVE
EMPLOYEES
AND
VOLUNTEERS
THE ASSURANCE THAT THEY WOULD
BE PROTECTED FROM REPRISALS OR
VICTIMISATION FOR WHISTLE BLOWING IN
GOOD FAITH

Personal Data
Protection Act
The FAS adopts a serious stance on the privacy of
its members and stakeholders. Recognising the
trust placed on the organisation, the FAS upholds
utmost responsibility to professionally manage,
protect and process personal data.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Club Licensing

Enhancing Capabilities

Club Licensing was first introduced in 2011 as
a list of basic criteria for then S.League clubs
to participate in AFC Club Competitions such
as the Asian Champions League and AFC Cup.
With AFC’s assistance, Club Licensing has since
grown in stature and is now a critical component
in FAS’ strategic plans for our clubs’ constant
development,
improved
governance
and
continued participation in the Singapore Premier
League.

In an effort to better integrate existing systems
with technology, the FAS Administration made
digital transformation a major focus towards Cost
Efficiency and Capability Development.

By implementing the club licensing
system, football clubs benefit by:
• DEVELOPING STRONG GOVERNANCE
AND ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURES

This key developmental tool has now become
a fundamental consideration in the operations
and decision-making process of SPL clubs to
improve the standards of the football ecosystem
in Singapore.

• IMPLEMENTING STABLE FINANCIAL
MANAGEMENT AND REPORTING
• IMPROVING TECHNICAL STANDARDS
OF COACHES AND CLUBS
• INCREASING RELIABILITY, CREDIBILITY
AND INTEGRITY OF CLUBS AND THE
LEAGUE
• PROMOTING AND
IMPROVING
THE
FOOTBALL

CONTINUOUSLY
STANDARD
OF

• ENGAGING QUALIFIED COACHES

Digital transformation was at the forefront of
our efforts as we made use of new technology
to integrate and automate the Human Capital,
Finance and Procurement business processes. We
also made the transition from being predominantly
paper based to a cloud portal system whereby
leave and claim applications as well as purchasing
modules are easily transacted.
Moving forward, the administration team will
further enhance the portal in areas of System
Reporting and Validation in FY20.
Mobile application would also be rolled out to
support SPL clubs in player attendance and other

INFRASTRUCTURE

• IMPROVING
THE
CLUBS’
ADMINISTRATION, MANAGEMENT AND
ORGANISATION
• RAISING ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL
STANDING OF THE CLUBS THROUGH
EFFECTIVE
MARKETING
AND
COMMERCIAL EXPLOITATION

As part of continuous efforts to raise the
standards of football in Singapore and increase
the level of professionalism, the FAS seeks to
introduce an adapted version of Club Licensing
to the NFL in 2021.

Risk Assessment
Risk Assessment entails an objective evaluation
of all plausible risk events that may potentially
have an impact on FAS’ mission and objectives.
In 2016, the FAS undertook an exercise to
identify the principal risks that it may face
and how these risks could be mitigated and
effectively managed. It involved establishing
risk parameters, identifying and prioritising
risks, assigning risk owners and assessing the
adequacy and effectiveness of existing controls
to manage the risks within target.
The FAS subsequently developed a risk framework
that provided an overview of the architecture for
identifying and managing risks.

THE ‘FOUR LINES DEFENCE’ MODEL EVOLVES
AROUND PROCESSES, PEOPLE AND SYSTEMS:

• ENCOURAGING YOUTH DEVELOPMENT
• IMPROVING
FACILITIES

management modules. The coaches and referees
registration and club portal is currently under
development and is expected to be launched by
Q4 2020.

2ND

1ST

LINE OF DEFENCE
BUSINESS
GOVERNANCE AND
POLICY MANAGEMENT,
WHICH INCLUDE
OPERATIONAL
GOVERNANCE,
FINANCIAL
GOVERNANCE AND
POLICY MANAGEMENT

3RD

LINE OF DEFENCE

LINE OF DEFENCE

MANAGEMENT
AND ASSURANCE,
WHICH INCLUDE RISK
MANAGEMENT AND
COMPLIANCE

INDEPENDENT
ASSURANCE, WHICH
INCLUDE INTERNAL
AND EXTERNAL
AUDIT

4TH

LINE OF DEFENCE

BOARD OVERSIGHT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Reserves Policy
The FAS is funded on a deficit-funding basis.
TOTE Board supplements the funds and has
handed the administration of its donation to
SportSG since 1 April 2017. These funds are
channelled towards FAS’ programmes, events
and operations.
There are two types of funds administered
by FAS – The Care United Fund and General
Reserves. These funds are setup and used solely
for clear and justifiable needs with the following
objectives:

CARE UNITED FUND
The funds raised are to support community
outreach programmes, which have the
following three key thrusts:

Council Self-evaluation
In line with the Code of Governance for
Charities and Institutions of Public Character,
the FAS initiated a self-evaluation questionnaire
for Council members. The objective was to
assess the performance and effectiveness of
the initiatives embarked by the organisation.
This self-evaluation would be conducted once
every three years as recommended by the
Charity Council.

Disclosure of
Remuneration of Top
Three Highest Paid Staff

• CHILDREN FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (CFA)
SCHEME

April 2019 - March 2020

• TRANSPORTATION FOR ELDERLY FOLKS
(TEF) SCHEME

Remuneration Band

• DEVELOPMENT
OF
FOOTBALL (DWF) SCHEME

WOMEN’S

GENERAL RESERVES
The General Reserves are to support the
following five key realms:

Number of Staff

Between $100,000
to $200,000

0

Between $200,000 to
$300,000

1

Between $300,000 to
$400,000

2

• NATIONAL TRAINING CENTRE AND
UPGRADING OF FOOTBALL FACILITIES
• ACADEMIC-CUM-FOOTBALL
SCHOLARSHIPS
• ATTACHMENTS FOR COACHES, PLAYERS
AND REFEREES
• ATTACHMENTS FOR MANAGEMENT AND
SUPPORT STAFF
• SPORTS SCIENCE AND MEDICINE
SUPPORT AND FACILITIES FOR VARIOUS
AGE-GROUP TEAMS AND SPL
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COUNCIL’S REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
OF FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

The Council presents their statement to the members together with the audited financial statements of Football
Association of Singapore (“Association”) and its subsidiary (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2020.
In the opinion of the Council,
(a)

the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position
and statement of changes in funds of the Association as set out on pages 5 to 35, are drawn up in accordance
with the provisions of the Societies Act, Chapter 311 (the Societies Act), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and
other relevant regulations (the Societies Act and Regulations) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore
(FRSs) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Association and of the Group as at 31
March 2020 and of the financial performance, changes in funds and cash flows of the Group and the change
in funds of the Association for the financial year ended on that date; and at the date of this statement, there
are reasonable grounds to believe that the Association will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due;

(b)

the accounting and other records to be kept by the Association have been properly kept in accordance with
the provisions of the Societies Act and Regulations;

(c)

the fund-raising appeal held during the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 has been carried out in
accordance with regulation 6 of the Societies Act and Regulations issued under the Societies Act and proper
accounts and other records have been kept of the fund-raising appeal;

(d)

the use of the donation monies is in accordance with its objectives of the Association as required under
Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and

(e)

the Association has complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 (Fund-raising expenses) of the Charities
(Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations.

ON BEHALF OF THE COUNCIL

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Football Association of Singapore (“the Association”) and its subsidiary
(“the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the statement of
financial position of the Association as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in funds and consolidated statement of cash flows of
the Group and statement of changes in funds of the Association for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 5 to 35.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and
statement of changes in funds of the Association are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the
Societies Act, Chapter 311 (the Societies Act), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations (the
Societies Act and Regulations) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as to give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Association as at 31 March
2020 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in funds and consolidated cash flows
of the Group and changes in funds of the Association for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory
Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA
Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Council’s Report, set
out on page 1.

LIM KIA TONG

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

President

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

LELAINA LIM SIEW LI
Honorary Treasurer

20 August 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
OF FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
OF FOOTBALL ASSOCIATION OF SINGAPORE

Responsibilities of Management and Council Members for the Financial Statements

•

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Societies Act and FRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary whether due to fraud or error to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

We communicate with the Council members regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
In our opinion:
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

(a)

the accounting and other records to be kept by the Association have been properly kept in accordance
with the provisions of the Societies Act and Regulations; and

(b)

the fund-raising appeal held during the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 has been carried out in
accordance with regulation 6 of the Societies Act and Regulations issued under the Societies Act and
proper accounts and other records have been kept of the fund-raising appeal.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that caused us to believe that during the year:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

(a)

the Association has not used the donation monies in accordance with its objectives as required under
Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and

(b)

the Association has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 (Fund-raising expenses) of the
Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations.

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore
20 August 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 March 2020

Financial year ended 31 March 2020
The Group

The Association
Note

Note

2020

2019

2020

2019

$

$

$

$

ASSETS
Current assets
Inventories

7

522,093

415,403

522,093

415,403

Trade and other receivables

8

4,426,846

2,553,835

4,426,846

2,523,835

60,365

48,753

60,365

48,753

7,176,386

3,370,691

7,185,164

3,383,187

12,185,690

6,388,682

12,194,468

6,371,178

Prepayments
Cash and cash equivalents

9

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Plant and equipment

5

2,780,444

427,752

2,780,444

427,752

Subsidiary

6

2

2

-

-

2,780,446

427,754

2,780,444

427,752

14,966,136

6,816,436

14,974,912

6,798,930

Total non-current assets
Total assets

LIABILITY AND FUNDS
Current liability
Trade and other payables

11

9,089,116

2,938,978

9,089,186

2,941,760

Lease liabilities

12

1,205,696

-

1,205,696

-

10,294,812

2,938,978

10,294,882

2,941,760

Total current liabilities
Non-current liability
Lease liabilities

12

1,234,498

-

1,234,498

-

2,017,284

2,852,316

2,025,990

2,832,028

1,419,542

1,025,142

1,419,542

1,025,142

3,436,826

3,877,458

3,445,532

3,857,170

14,966,136

6,816,436

14,974,912

6,816,436

FUNDS
General funds
Restricted funds

10

Total funds
Total liability and funds

2020
$

2019
$

18,622
8,033
1,135,368
523,464
1,005
202,900
509,272
354,234
18,142,444
3,233,874
69,000
24,198,216

394,015
4,000
2,103,310
197
10,766
266,760
48,954
351,016
18,771,443
2,646,544
20,000
24,617,005

(420,148)
(2,388,784)
(4,032,526)
(1,865,223)
(2,916,155)
(14,813)
(205,937)
(12,618,135)
(542,533)
(25,004,253)

(654,050)
(3,295,197)
(22,125)
(3,500,272)
(1,150,990)
(3,876,343)
(194,663)
(4,691)
(415,204)
(13,130,404)
(697,088)
(26,941,027)

22

(806,038)
(806,038)

(2,324,022)
(2,324,022)

Funds
Care United
Total disbursement for the year

10

(5,600)

(10,800)

One Team Singapore Fund
Total receipt for the year

10

400,000
394,400

200,000
189,200

(411,638)

(2,134,822)

The Group
Revenue and other income
Gate collections
Domestic League entrance fees
Sponsorship
Advertising and TV rights
Interest on fixed deposits
Donations
Miscellaneous receipts
Affiliation fees
SportSG Grant
Subsidies
Bad debts recovered

13

14
15
16
17

Expenses
Domestic football league expenses
Football development expenses
SportSG levies and charges
Operating expenses
Organising and travelling expenses
National Teams and Lions training costs
Incentives and awards
Overseas conferences/meetings
Referees committee expenses
Singapore Premier League expenses
Women’s football

13

18
19

20
21

Deficit before taxation
Taxation
Deficit after taxation

Total net (deficit) surplus representing total comprehensive
(loss) income for the year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN FUNDS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Financial year ended 31 March 2020

Financial year ended 31 March 2020

General
funds

Restricted
funds

Total

The Group
2020

2019

$

$

$

$

$

THE GROUP
Operating activities
At 1 April 2018

1,563,900

4,428,092

5,991,992

Transfer to general funds (net), representing
transactions recognised directly in funds

3,592,150

(3,592,150)

-

(2,324,022)

189,200

(2,134,822)

At 31 March 2019

2,832,028

1,025,142

3,857,170

Total net deficit, representing total
comprehensive loss for the year

(806,038)

394,400

(411,638)

2,025,990

1,419,542

3,445,532

Total net deficit, representing total
comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 March 2020

(Deficit) for the year

(411,638)

(2,134,822)

1,365,613

88,590

Write-off of property, plant and equipment

32,756

1,874

Interest income

(1,005)

(10,766)

985,726

(2,055,124)

(1,914,623)

936,223

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital
Changes in working capital
Trade and other receivables

General
funds

Restricted
funds

Total

$

$

$

Inventories

(106,690)

784,133

Trade and other payables

6,147,426

(1,864,616)

5,111,839

(2,199,384)

1,005

10,766

5,112,844

(2,188,618)

(159,401)

(402,357)

Repayment of lease liabilities

(999,251)

-

Interest paid - lease liabilities

(152,215)

-

(1,151,466)

-

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

3,801,977

(2,590,975)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

3,383,187

5,974,162

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

7,185,164

3,383,187

Cash flows used in operations

THE ASSOCIATION
Interest received
At 1 April 2018

1,582,855

4,428,092

6,010,947

Transfer to general funds (net), representing
transactions recognised directly in funds

3,592,150

(3,592,150)

-

(2,322,689)

189,200

(2,133,489)

At 31 March 2019

2,852,316

1,025,142

3,877,458

Total net deficit, representing total
comprehensive loss for the year

(835,032)

394,400

(440,632)

2,017,284

1,419,542

3,436,826

Total net deficit, representing total
comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 March 2020

Net cash from (used in) operating activities
Investing activity
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, representing
net cash used in investing activity
Financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2020

1

31 March 2020

GENERAL INFORMATION

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - On 1 April 2019, the Group adopted all the new and revised
FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are effective from that date and are relevant to its operations.
The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the Group’s accounting
policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years except as disclosed
below.

The Association is incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Singapore as a charity, under the Charities
Act, Chapter 37, with its principal place of business located at 100 Tyrwhitt Road, Jalan Besar Stadium #01-02,
Singapore 207542.

FRS 116 Leases

The principal activities of the Association are those related to the promotion of professional/semi-professional
football league and organising football matches.

FRS 116 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It introduces significant
changes to lessee accounting by removing the distinction between operating and finance lease and requiring
the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement for all leases, except for shortterm leases and leases of low value assets when such recognition exemptions are adopted. In contrast to
lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting have remained largely unchanged. The impact of
the adoption of FRS 116 on the Group’s financial statements is described below. The date of initial application
of FRS 116 for the Group is 1 April 2019.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position and statement of
changes in funds of the Association for the year ended 31 March 2020 were authorised for issue by the
Council on ____________.

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group has applied FRS 116 using the cumulative catch-up approach which requires the Group to
recognise the cumulative catch-up approach which does not permit restatement of comparatives, which
continue to be presented under FRS 17 and INT FRS 104.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost
basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with Financial
Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”), the provisions of the Societies Act, Chapter 311 (the Societies Act),
the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations (the Societies Act and Regulations).
(a)
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Association takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of FRS 102 Share-based Payments, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of FRS 116 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in FRS 2 Inventories or value in use in FRS 36 Impairment of Assets.
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

Impact of the new definition of a lease
The Group has made use of the practical expedient available on transition to FRS 116 not to reassess whether
a contract is or contains a lease. Accordingly, the definition of a lease in accordance with FRS 17 and INT FRS
104 will continue to be applied to those leases entered or changed before 1 April 2019.
The change in definition of a lease mainly relates to the concept of control. FRS 116 determines whether
a contract contains a lease on the basis of whether the customer has the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. This is in contrast to the focus on ‘risks and
rewards’ in FRS 17 and INT FRS 104.
The Group applies the definition of a lease and related guidance set out in FRS 116 to all lease contracts
entered into or modified on or after 1 April 2019 (whether it is a lessor or a lessee in the lease contract). The
new definition in FRS 116 does not significantly change the scope of contracts that meet the definition of a
lease for the Group.
(b) Impact on lessee accounting
Former operating leases

(a) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

FRS 116 changes how the Group accounts for leases previously classified as operating leases under FRS
17, which were off-balance-sheet.

(b) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
(c) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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Applying FRS 116, for all leases, the Group:

Former finance leases

(a) Recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statements of financial positions, initially
measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, with the right-of-use asset adjusted by
the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments in accordance with FRS 116.C8(b)(ii), except for
the right-of-use asset for property leases which were measured on a retrospective basis as if the Standard
had been applied since the commencement date;

For leases that were classified as finance leases applying FRS 17, the carrying amount of the leased assets and
obligations under finance leases measured applying FRS 17 immediately before the date of initial application
is reclassified to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities respectively without any adjustments, except in cases
where the Group has elected to apply the low-value lease recognition exemption.

(b) Recognises depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income; and

The right-of-use asset and the lease liability are accounted for applying FRS 116 from
1 April 2019.
(c) Financial impact of initial application of FRS 116

(c) Separates the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing activities) and
interest (presented within operating activities) in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities recognised in
the statement of financial position on 1 April 2019 is 5.25%.

Lease incentives (e.g. free rent period) are recognised as part of the measurement of the right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities whereas under FRS 17 they resulted in the recognition of a lease incentive liability, amortised
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

The following table shows the operating lease commitments disclosed applying FRS 17 at 31 March 2019,
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application and the lease liabilities
recognised in the statement of financial position at the date of initial application.

Under FRS 116, right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in accordance with
FRS 36 Impairment of Assets.
2019
For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets (which includes
small items of office equipment), the Group has opted to recognise a lease expense on a straight-line basis
as permitted by FRS 116. This expense is presented within other operating expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

$
Operating lease commitments at 31 March 2019
Less: Short term and low value leases

(44,137)

Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 April 2019

The Group has used the following practical expedients when applying the cumulative catch-up approach to
leases previously classified as operating leases applying FRS 17.

44,137
-

•

The Group has applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.

The Group has assessed that there is no tax impact arising from the application of FRS 116.

•

The Group has adjusted the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application by the amount of provision
for onerous leases recognised under FRS 37 in the statements of financial positions immediately before
the date of initial application as an alternative to performing an impairment review.

Right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the statement of financial position
immediately before the date of initial application.

•

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities to leases for which the
lease term ends within 12 months of the date of initial application.

Management anticipates that the adoption of the other FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS in future
periods will not have a material impact on the financial statements in the period of their initial adoption.

•

The Group has excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date
of initial application.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of
the Association and its subsidiary controlled by the Association. Control is achieved when the Association:

•

The Group has used hindsight when determining the lease term when the contract contains options to
extend or terminate the lease.

•
•
•

Has power over the investee;
Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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The Association reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

31 March 2020

Financial assets
Classification of financial assets

When the Association has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee unilaterally. The Association considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether
or not the Association’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

These comprise cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables that meet the following conditions
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost:
•

the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

•

the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

•

The size of the Association’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

•

Potential voting rights held by the Association, other vote holders or other parties;

•

Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

•

Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Association has, or does not have, the
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous Council’s meetings.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Association obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Association loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Association gains control until the date when the Association
ceases to control the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
Association and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Association and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating interest income over the relevant period.
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. On the
other hand, the gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any loss allowance.
Interest is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost, except for short-term balances when the effect of discounting is immaterial.
Impairment of financial assets

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.
Investment in subsidiary is stated at cost less any impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised
in profit or loss.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s statement
of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on trade and other receivables. The
amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and other receivables. The expected credit losses on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.
For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on the financial instrument
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an actual
default occurring.
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Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers historical loss rates for each category of customers and adjusts to
reflect current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables.
The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the
current reporting date.
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of
the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments

Definition of default
The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an
effective yield basis.
Derecognition of financial liabilities

Write-off policy
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straightline method, on the following bases:
Years
Office equipment

5

Furniture and fittings

5

Computer

3

Sports and field equipment

5

Office premises

2-3

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
INVENTORIES - Inventories comprise consumables for own use received from sponsors are initially recognised
at fair value which is the deemed cost. Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective inventories.

The Group as lessee
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
LEASES (from 1 April 2019)
The Group as lessee
The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements
in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lessee
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:
•

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS - At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the assets is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Association estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

•

variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

•

the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

•

the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

•

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an expense immediately.
When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statements of financial positions.
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made.

LEASES (before 1 April 2019) - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.
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The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
asset) whenever:
•

the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate;

•

the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a
floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or

•

a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments
made at or before the commencement day and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on
which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, a provision is recognised and measured under FRS 37. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that
the company expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.
The Group applies FRS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss as described in “Impairment of Non-Financial Assets”.
Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease
liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line ‘Other operating
expenses’ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
As a practical expedient, FRS 116 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead
account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has used
this practical expedient.
PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 March 2020

REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable
and represents amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of
discounts and other similar allowances.
Revenue from sponsorship income
Revenue from sponsorships are recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on
sponsorships, on a straight-line basis over the sponsorship period unless the sponsorship is contingent on
specific milestones or fulfilment of equivalent performance obligations in which case revenue is recognised
when those milestones or performance obligations are met.
Value-in-kind sponsorships are recognised at point in time upon delivery of the goods or acceptance of
the services. Value-in-kind sponsorships are measured at the fair value of the goods received and services
rendered at point in time.
Revenue other than sponsorship income
Revenue from gate collections is recognised based on matches played throughout the year with revenue
from each match being recognised at point in time after the match to which the performance obligation is
satisfied.
Revenue from grants, subsidies and donations is recognised on accrual basis according to agreed terms and
conditions set by the concerned parties. All other revenue from donations is recognised upon receipt.
RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an
expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to
state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as
payments to defined contribution plans where the Association’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to
those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting period.
FUND - The Association maintains general fund and restricted funds. General funds are fund available for use
for any of the Group’s purposes. Restricted funds are set up for specific purposes.
GOVERNMENT GRANTS - Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to
match them with the costs for which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government
grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
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INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax
deductible. The Association’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the Association and its subsidiaries operate by the end
of the reporting period.

31 March 2020

3

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Association’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

Deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

For the performance obligations to be fulfilled by the Association to earn the respective sponsorship income,
the obligations are to be performed via an indeterminate number of acts over a specific period of time.
Further, there is no single specific act which is much more significant than any other acts. Accordingly, the
Association has recognised revenue on a straight-line basis over the specific sponsorship period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Association intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to
items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in
which case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively), or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the
case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining
the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost.
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS - The financial statements of the Association are measured and
presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional
currency). The financial statements of the Association are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the
functional currency of the Association, and the presentation currency for the financial statements.

Critical judgements in applying the Association’s accounting policies
Revenue recognition

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.
Loss allowance for trade and other receivables
Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring expected credit losses (“ECL”). Probability of default
is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical
data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 8 to the financial
statements.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary
items are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of nonmonetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - Cash and cash equivalents in the
statement of cash flows comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.
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4

31 March 2020

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
a)

(ii)

Interest rate risk management
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk arising from changes in interest rates for interest earning fixed
deposits.

Categories of financial instruments
The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:
2020

2019

$

$

Fluctuations in interest rates are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s operating
results.
(iii)

The Association
Financial assets at amortised cost#

11,551,939

5,819,121

Financial liabilities at amortised cost*

5,482,258

2,908,646

Lease liabilities

2,440,194

2,908,646

2020

2019

$

$

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash and cash equivalents
and trade and other receivables.
Cash and cash equivalents are placed with reputable financial institutions.
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which are net of any
allowances for losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.
Further details of credit risks on trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 8 to the financial
statements. The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a
large number of counterparties and customers except for the fund receivable from a single party which
the Group expects that this is collectible.

The Group
Financial assets at amortised cost#

11,560,717

5,801,617

Financial liabilities at amortised cost*

5,482,328

2,911,428

Lease liabilities

2,440,194

-

#

*

(iv)

Excludes employee advance.
Excludes fees received in advance and donations received in advance.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below.
(i)

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values.

Financial risk management policies and objectives

The Group is exposed to various financial risks arising from the normal course of business. It has adopted risk
management policies and utilises a variety of techniques to manage its exposure to these risks.

Liquidity risk management
The objective of liquidity management is to ensure that the Group has sufficient funds to meet its
contractual and financial obligations. The Group’s liquidity risk is minimal as the Group maintain
sufficient cash and bank balances through grants, donations, and sponsorships and internally generated
cash flows to finance their operating activities and committed liabilities.

c)
b)

Credit risk management

d)

Capital risk management policies and objectives
The Group reviews its capital structure at least annually to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern. The capital structure of the Group comprises reserves and retained earnings. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

Foreign exchange risk management
The Group does not transact its business in foreign currencies.
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5

31 March 2020

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

6

Sports
Office
Furniture
and field
equipment Computer and fittings equipment
$
$
$
$

Office
premises
$

Total
$

SUBSIDIARY
2020

2019

$

$

300,002

300,002

(300,000)

(300,000)

2

2

The Association
Unquoted equity investment, at cost

The Association and
the Group

Impairment loss

Cost
At 1 April 2018

-

39,927

258,883

156,000

193,219

648,029

Additions

-

23,158

200,959

-

178,240

402,357

Write-off

-

(8,700)

(108,491)

(11,870)

-

(129,061)

At 31 March 2019

-

54,385

351,351

144,130

371,459

921,325

3,591,660

-

-

-

-

3,591,660

-

22,060

100,260

-

37,081

159,401

Adoption of FRS 116
Additions
Write-off
At 31 March 2020

-

(160)

-

-

(32,596)

(32,756)

3,591,660

76,285

451,611

144,130

375,944

4,639,630

Impairment due to Singapore Professional Football League Pte Ltd being dormant company and also in
a net total liabilities and loss position.
The subsidiary is as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Principal activities

Country of
Incorporation

Percentage
of equity held
2020

2019

%

%

100

100

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2018

-

30,011

241,904

103,082

157,173

532,170

Depreciation for the year

-

7,834

33,313

21,577

25,866

88,590

Write-off

-

(8,700)

(106,617)

(11,870)

-

(127,187)

At 31 March 2019

-

29,145

168,600

112,789

183,039

493,573

Depreciation for the year

1,211,946

10,457

76,904

19,133

47,173

1,365,613

At 31 March 2020

1,211,946

39,602

245,504

131,922

230,212

1,859,186

Net book value

Singapore
Professional Football
League
Pte Ltd (1)

2,379,714

36,683

206,107

12,208

145,732

2,780,444

At 31 March 2019

-

25,240

182,751

31,341

188,420

427,752

Singapore

The shares are held in trust by a nominee corporation and two individuals. This subsidiary is in the
process of striking off.
(1)

7

At 31 March 2020

To promote a professional/ semiprofessional football league and
betting outlet operations. The
subsidiary remains dormant.

INVENTORIES
2020

2019

$

$

The Association and The Group
The Group leases several facilities in sport stadiums for office premises and Singapore Premier League. The
average lease term is 2 to 3 years. There is no option at the end of the lease agreements to purchase these
facilities.

Inventories, at cost

522,093

Inventories pertain to sponsored goods in the form of football attire and equipment.
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31 March 2020

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Other receivables

The Association
2020
2019
$
$
Trade receivables
- third parties
- subsidiary
Loss allowance for trade
receivables
Balance at beginning of year
Allowance for the year
Balance at end of year
Net trade receivables

The Group
2020
$

Loss allowance for other receivables has been measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit
losses (ECL). The ECL on other receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate.
Management expects credit losses on other receivables to be immaterial.

2019
$

805,483
805,483

249,918
133,929
383,847

805,483
805,483

249,918
249,918

(133,929)
133,929
-

(133,929)
(133,929)

-

-

805,483

249,918

805,483

249,918

78,016
1,288,901

73,639
451,656

78,016
1,288,901

73,639
451,656

51,293
2,178,437
108,377
21,835
3,726,859

105,405
1,583,642
105,497
89,574
2,409,413

51,293
2,178,437
108,377
21,835
3,726,859

105,405
1,583,642
105,497
59,574
2,379,413

9

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The Association
2020
2019
$
$
Fixed deposits
Cash and bank balances

Other receivables
Deposits
Other recoverables
Advances to employees for
competition and training
Fund receivable
Advance to S-League clubs
Others

Net trade and other receivables

(105,496)
2,303,917

(105,496)
3,621,363

(105,496)
2,273,917

4,426,846

2,553,835

4,426,846

2,523,835

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 or 60 (2019: 30 or 60) days’ terms. No
interest is charged on the overdue trade receivables. Advance to S-League clubs are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

210,217
6,974,947
7,185,164

200,434
3,182,753
3,383,187

10 RESTRICTED FUNDS
Care
United
$

(105,496)
3,621,363

200,434
3,170,257
3,370,691

2019
$

Fixed deposits are for terms of approximately one to three months with interest rate of 0.2% (2019: 0.2%)
per annum at the end of the year.

Loss allowance for other receivables
(Advance to S-League clubs)
Balance at beginning and end
of year
Net other receivables

201,439
6,974,947
7,176,386

The Group
2020
$

The Association and The Group
At 1 April 2018
Transfer from (to) general funds
Total receipts for the year
Total disbursements for the year
At 31 March 2019
Total receipts for the year
Total disbursements for the year
At 31 March 2020

235,739
600,203
(10,800)
825,142
(5,600)
819,542

Football
Development
Fund
$

4,192,353
(4,192,353)
-

Loss allowance for trade receivables has been measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit
losses (ECL). The ECL on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate.
Management expects credit losses on trade receivables to be immaterial.
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One Team
Singapore
Fund
$

200,000
200,000
400,000
600,000

Total
$

4,428,092
(3,592,150)
200,000
(10,800)
1,025,142
400,000
(5,600)
1,419,542
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12 LEASES LIABILITIES

The objectives of the Funds are as follows:
Care United

Leases liabilities
2020
$

The funds raised are to support community outreach programmes, which have the following three key
thrusts:
•
•
•

Maturity analysis:
Year 1
Year 2
Less: Unearned interest

Children Financial Assistance (CFA) Scheme;
Transportation for Elderly Folks (TEF) Scheme; and
Development of Women’s Football (DWF) Scheme.

1,297,286
1,263,370
(120,462)
2,440,194

Football Development Fund
The Association has set up the Football Development Fund to support the following five key realms:
•
•
•
•
•

National Training Centre and Upgrading of football facilities;
Academic-cum-football scholarships;
Attachments for coaches, players and referees;
Attachments for management and support staff; and
Sports Science and Medicine support and facilities for various age-group teams and S.League clubs.

Analysed as:
Current
Non-Current

1,205,696
1,234,498
2,440,194

13 DOMESTIC FOOTBALL LEAGUE
2020
$

One Team Singapore Fund
The One Team Singapore Fund has been created by Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth specifically
for all supporters of Team Singapore to contribute to enhance the High Performance Sport system for
Singapore’s athletes

11

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
The Association
2020
2019
$
$

2020
$

The Group

Trade payables
Accruals
Other payables

3,261,621
1,878,038
342,599
5,482,258

988,051
1,631,839
288,756
2,908,646

3,261,621
1,878,108
342,599
5,482,328

988,051
1,634,621
288,756
2,911,428

Fees received in advance
Donations received in advance

3,606,858
9,089,116

30,332
2,938,978

3,606,858
9,089,186

30,332
2,941,760

The average credit period on purchases is approximately 30 days (2018 : 30 days).

2019
$

The Group
Income
NFL Division 1 and 2
Expenses
Island Wide League
NFL Division 1 and 2
FA Cup
Women’s Domestic League
Office Operating Expenses

2019
$

8,033

4,000

11,197
267,895
31,283
73,470
36,303
420,148

17,509
451,239
46,402
138,900
654,050

The participation fees of the various domestic football leagues have been waived in 2020 and 2019 and no
income is generated from the leagues.

14 DONATIONS
The Institution of a Public Character (“IPC”) status of Football Association of Singapore has been renewed up till
7 June 2022, under which FAS can grant tax deductions to its donors. With effect from 24 October 2008, the
Association is authorised to issue tax deductible receipts to its donors.
Included in donations are tax deductible donations of $112,500 (2019 : $266,760).
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15 MISCELLANEOUS RECEIPTS

18 OPERATING EXPENSES
2020
$

The Group
Disciplinary fines
Tournament sanction fees
Others

14,388
494,884
509,272

2019
$

22,900
2,362
23,692
48,954

16 SPORT SINGAPORE (SPORTSG) GRANT
This represents grant from SportSG to the Association as a National Sports Association. In 2019, the TOTE
Board has handed the administration of the donations to SportSG.

17 SUBSIDIES
The subsidies are received mainly from Federation International Football Association (“FIFA”), The Asian
Football Confederation (“AFC”) and ASEAN Football Federation (“AFF”) for local football development.

2020
$
The Group
Bank charges
Computer expense - website, supplies
and maintenance
Entertainment/refreshment
Exchange loss
Insurance
Medical expenses
Miscellaneous expenses
Newspaper/Publications
Printing and stationery
Professional fees
Recruitment and training
Repairs and maintenance
Rental of office premises
Souvenirs
Salaries and bonuses
Staff welfare
Subscription/membership
Telephone and postage
Transport
Water and electricity
Interest expense – lease liabilities
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Fund raising event
Goods & Services Tax not recoverable
Shared services
Net operating expenses after shared services
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2019
$

2,565

2,552

100,062
16,763
8,971
128,843
11,225
574,786
1,244
3,183
49,942
7,692
26,956
9,103
2,364,309
22,882
1,993
66,325
26,794
47,774
152,215
153,667
1,211,946
70,900
179,362
5,235,726
(1,203,200)
4,032,526

47,417
22,269
39,489
14,981
1,704,523
12,653
10,331
284,223
8,366
59,058
171,296
10,009
1,961,806
30,031
1,899
27,551
14,722
19,242
88,590
44,005
76,717
4,651,743
(1,151,471)
3,500,272
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19 ORGANISING AND TRAVELLING EXPENSES

22 TAXATION
2020
$

The Group
AFC Asian Youth Qualifying Rounds
AFF Asean Youth Competitions
AFF Championship (Suzuki Cup)
Friendly Matches
Asian and SEA Games
Asian Cup Qualifying Rounds
International Challenge Cup
Sultan of Selangor Cup
Sultan Gold Cup
Merlion Cup
World Cup Qualifying Rounds
Women’s International Competition
Olympic Qualifying /AFC U22

283,935
85,100
53,698
475,974
179,338
50,893
59,974
28,800
185,030
345,108
117,373
1,865,223

2019
$
(4,523)
34,983
597,970
202,541
45,851
238,606
35,562
1,150,990

2020
$
117,399
(323,336)
(205,937)

2019
$
12,946
(428,150)
(415,204)

21 SINGAPORE PROFESSIONAL FOOTBALL LEAGUE EXPENSES
2019
$

2020
$
Deficit before taxation
Tax at statutory rate of 17% (2018 : 17%)
Non-deductible expenses

(806,038)
(137,026)
137,026
-

2019
$
(2,324,022)
(395,084)
395,084
-

23 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
2019
$

The Group
Short-term employee benefits:
Key management personnel
- salaries and related costs
- CPF contributions
Other than key management personnel
- salaries and related costs
- CPF contributions

2018
$

1,266,501
48,417
1,314,918

1,026,590
47,912
1,074,502

5,764,591
822,076
6,586,667

5,727,882
647,551
6,375,433

7,901,585

7,449,935

24 COMMITMENTS

The Group
S League Competitions
Singapore Cup
COE League Cup
Grants to Clubs
Advertising
Salaries and related costs
Others (Excluding advertising)
*Shared services
- Operating expenses (Note 18)

*

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

2020
$

20 REFEREE COMMITTEE INCOME (EXPENSES)

The Group
Referee committee income
Referee committee expenses

The Association is exempt from tax by virtue of being an approved charity under the Charities Act, Chapter
37 and an Institution of Public Character under the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134. The subsidiary is subject to
the prevailing corporate tax rate of 17% (2019 : 17%).

1,017,158
208,802
39,770
8,487,630
850
686,980
973,745
11,414,935

1,456,401
221,965
8,674,310
788
606,951
1,018,518
11,978,933

1,203,200
12,6118,135

1,151,471
13,130,404

Operating lease commitments
2019
$
The Group
Operating lease expense for the financial year

552,579

Shared services relate to expenses attributable to the Singapore Professional Football League included within
domestic football league (Note 12), operating expenses (Note 17) and referee committee expenses (Note 19).
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24 COMMITMENTS
Operating lease commitments
2019
$
The Group
Operating lease expense for the financial year

552,579

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of rental of apartments and office equipment as follows:
2019
$
The Group
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years

25,221
18,916

The above operating leases had an average tenure of between 2 to 5 years. They did not contain any
escalation clauses and do not provide for contingent rents. Lease terms did not contain restrictions on the
Group’s activities concerning additional debts or entering into other leasing arrangements.

25 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The outbreak of Covid-19 in early 2020 has caused disruptions to many industries globally. Despite the
challenges, governments and international organisations have implemented a series of measures to contain
the pandemic.
The Covid-19 outbreak is an event that occurred during the Group’s financial reporting period and the related
impact of the Covid-19 outbreak on the Group’s assets and liabilities have been assessed and recognised in
the financial statements as at 31 March 2020.
SportSG and other funding agencies have continued to disburse grants to the Group to support its operations.
In view of the fluid development of the pandemic, management has exercised cautious management of the
resources of the Group. Accordingly, the Group has determined that it will be able maintain sufficient liquidity
to enable it to continue as a going concern for at least the next 12 months from the authorisation date of the
Group’s financial statements.
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